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P R O C E E D I N G S 1 

------------------------------------------------------ 2 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 3 

  My name is W. Curtis Thomas and I am 4 

Majority Chairman of the Pennsylvania House 5 

Intergovernmental Affairs Committee.  And we are 6 

excited about being in the great city of Erie this 7 

morning.  And before we get down to our official 8 

business we have two people that I would like to take 9 

a moment to just say hello.  One is your stellar mayor 10 

here in the city of Erie, the Honorable Joseph 11 

Sinnott.  Good morning, Mr. Mayor.  Glad to have you. 12 

Thank you for your hospitality. 13 

  MAYOR SINNOTT: 14 

  Thank you for being here, Representative 15 

Thomas and thank you to all of your panel, the 16 

representatives being here today.  This is definitely 17 

an important issue.  I thank you for bringing the 18 

attention here to our community.  We at the local 19 

government level are all too well familiar with the 20 

consequences of unfunded mandates.  I think this is 21 

going to be something that's going to have a great 22 

impact on the people in this community. 23 

  As I read through the materials that you 24 

sent in advance of the hearing, it states that the 25 
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states don't necessarily have to sign on to this 1 

mandate, but of course, the consequence of not doing 2 

it will be even more egregious than doing it.  So no 3 

matter how you look at it, it's going to end up being 4 

a costly consequence for the people of this community 5 

and of this state and this country and I think that 6 

it's important that everyone recognize what really is 7 

going on here and what it's going to mean to all of 8 

us.   9 

  So I appreciate you being here and all of 10 

you being here.  Once again, unfunded mandates to the 11 

people in these communities are a big problem and 12 

always have been.  And it seems like more and more 13 

they continue to come.  As federal money go elsewhere 14 

the number of unfunded mandates that are pressed on 15 

the communities becomes greater and greater and it’s 16 

just something that goes out and we should become 17 

aware of and address in an ongoing fashion.   18 

  So thank you again for being here and 19 

welcome to our community. 20 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 21 

  Thank you, Mr. Mayor.  And now I have to 22 

also give a minute to or a half a minute to the 23 

Honorable Curtis Jones, Jr., who has allowed me to sit 24 

in his seat temporarily.  He is the president of City 25 
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Council for this great city.  Mr. Curtis Jones, Jr. 1 

  MR. JONES: 2 

  I’m glad to see the state 3 

representatives.  And Pat and Flo I know very 4 

personally.  We appreciate your coming and we welcome 5 

you.  And we appreciate this whole process, the way 6 

this process is going, and we welcome you to the city 7 

from myself personally as well as a representative of 8 

the City, and City Council as a whole.  Thank you.  We 9 

really appreciate this hearing, because this is of 10 

high concern to all of us.  So let's move on and let's 11 

get to work.  We welcome you here. 12 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 13 

  Thank you, Mr. Jones.  Very quickly we 14 

wanted to ask a friend who provides real quality 15 

representation for the city of Erie and that is the 16 

Honorable Fabrizio and ask him to say hello. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE FABRIZIO: 18 

  Well, on behalf of the Erie delegation, 19 

Representative Thomas, we welcome you to Erie and 20 

we're glad you're enjoying your stay.  I think you're 21 

doing a commendable job by having these series of 22 

hearings, and I think we’re the last up here, on the 23 

Real ID Act.  I know there are many concerns here by 24 

many people on both sides of the issue and this is a 25 
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wonderful opportunity to give those people who have a 1 

direct interest in this an opportunity to express 2 

their opinions.  Welcome again. 3 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 4 

  As part of this great delegation we will 5 

be hearing very shortly from Representative Hornaman 6 

and Representative Harkins, who have joined us as a 7 

part of the Erie delegation.  Let's just give them a 8 

big round of applause. 9 

  Now, our esteemed minority chairman could 10 

not be with us this morning, but he has asked that we 11 

look to this next person as someone who is very well 12 

qualified to stand in for him and provides independent 13 

leadership.  She is kind of new to the Pennsylvania 14 

House, but has stepped up, stepped out and represented 15 

the people of Crawford, Mercer and other counties very 16 

well.  Let's hear from the Honorable Michelle Brooks, 17 

who will be sitting in Representative Steil. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 19 

  I appreciate the opportunity to be here 20 

this morning and in the wonderful city of Erie.  This 21 

is most certainly a complex issue that is facing us 22 

that has been handed down by the federal government.  23 

And make no mistake, it is a federal mandate that has 24 

been put upon the states. 25 
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  The estimated cost is roughly $110 1 

million just for the state of Pennsylvania and 2 

billions of dollars nationwide.  Not only do I think 3 

it actually goes over the boundary of infringing on 4 

personal rights and personal information, but also 5 

there's going to be some consequences that the federal 6 

government has handed down if the states do not 7 

comply.   8 

  I do want to let everyone know that 9 

Pennsylvania has filed a request for an extension to 10 

comply until the state of Pennsylvania can work 11 

through the details.  But one of the things that the 12 

federal government has said is that any state that 13 

does not comply with this, their residents will not be 14 

able to board an airplane without a passport.  So that 15 

is a concern.  They cannot go into a federal building 16 

without a passport, because this ID is going to be 17 

recognized nationwide as the only safe mechanism to ID 18 

a person.  So the state of Pennsylvania needs to work 19 

with the federal government so that our residents are 20 

not penalized just because we want to preserve some of 21 

our rights and some of our freedoms.  And that's what 22 

was have done. 23 

  Representative Thomas has done an 24 

excellent job as Chairman of the Intergovernmental 25 
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Committee to get the word out on this piece of 1 

legislation and we hope that we can move forward and 2 

protect your rights, your individual liberties, and 3 

still keep our residents safe.  Thank you very much. 4 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 5 

  Thank you, Representative Brooks.  Now, 6 

before I make a brief statement, I'm going to start on 7 

my right, ask each of my colleagues if they would 8 

introduce themselves and the counties which they 9 

represent. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE HORNAMAN: 11 

  John Hornaman, Third Legislative 12 

District, Millcreek Township, Greene Township, 13 

Waterford, and Franklin Township. 14 

  REPRESENTATIVE SONNEY: 15 

  Curt Sonney, Fourth Legislative District 16 

Eastern Erie County. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 18 

  State Representative Michelle Brooks and 19 

I represent portions of Lawrence, Mercer and Crawford 20 

Counties, the 17th District. 21 

  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 22 

  Representative Brad Roae, Sixth 23 

Legislative District.  I represent most of Crawford 24 

County, which is just the county south of here, for 25 
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some of you out-of-towners.  It's great to be in Erie. 1 

I graduated from Gannon University, and I worked over 2 

here at Erie Insurance for 14 years, so it's great to 3 

be in Erie. 4 

  REPRESENTATIVE HARKINS: 5 

  Pat Harkins, First District of Erie. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE FABRIZIO: 7 

  Flo Fabrizio, Second District of Erie. 8 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 9 

  You have just heard from the best of the 10 

best.  These are all good reps.  Why don't we stand up 11 

and give them a good round of applause.  We're out of 12 

session right now, so they could have been doing 13 

something else, but they came here this morning and I 14 

thank them for that. 15 

  I welcome you to the last of five public 16 

hearings on the Federal Identification Act of 2005.  17 

The hearings have been held throughout Pennsylvania, 18 

in Harrisburg, Philadelphia, Pittsburgh and Scranton 19 

and now we are here in this great city.  Over 250 20 

people participated in the first four hearings and 21 

provided insightful input.   22 

  In May of 2005, Congress enacted the Real 23 

ID law to address concern with regard to the creation 24 

of fraudulent identification documents by terrorists. 25 
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The United States Department of Homeland Security  1 

released final regulations regarding Real ID on 2 

January 11th of this year.   3 

  Under the terms of the Act, compliance 4 

starts as early as May 11th of this year, but it must 5 

be phased in for everyone in the country no later than 6 

December 1st, 2017.  This Act will impact the lives of 7 

at least 240 million Americans, including over nine 8 

million right here in Pennsylvania.  The Act sets 9 

forth minimum federal standards, 18 for state driver 10 

licensees and identification cards used for an 11 

official purpose, which is defined as entry into 12 

federal facilities, boarding commercial airlines, 13 

entering nuclear power plants, and any other purpose 14 

which the Secretary of Homeland Security may later 15 

establish.  In other words, this could affect all 16 

federal buildings.  You might have to have an ID card 17 

to see your Congressman or Congresswoman or United 18 

States Senator who has an office in a federal 19 

building.   20 

  The Real ID Act, as Representative Brooks 21 

aptly noted is a federal law.  The federal government 22 

has allocated only $90 million to assist states with 23 

implementation of the act.  The Department of Homeland 24 

Security estimates that the cost to put Real ID in 25 
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place will be about $3.9 billion.  A study by the 1 

National Conference of State Legislatures, the 2 

National Governors Association and the America 3 

Association of Motor Vehicles estimates the states 4 

would have to spend $11 billion over five years to 5 

meet Real ID Act requirements.   6 

  Pennsylvania residents, legislators, 7 

government officials and other policymakers must take 8 

notice of the Real ID Act.  While our state officials 9 

want to create fraud-resistant identification 10 

documents, develop a license and identification cards 11 

that meet Real ID standards the Act will cause 12 

operational and fiscal challenges for Pennsylvania and 13 

our state government. 14 

  The Pennsylvania Department of 15 

Transportation estimated in 2007 that Real ID might 16 

cost at least $85 million to implement in 17 

Pennsylvania.  In order to obtain Real ID 18 

identification Pennsylvanians would need to make in- 19 

person visits and bring documents such as Social 20 

Security cards, birth certificates and proofs of 21 

address to PennDOT. 22 

  Meeting the requirements of the Act will 23 

disrupt the lives of many Pennsylvanians.  Renewing 24 

licenses in person --- renewing licenses in person 25 
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will be extremely burdensome for people, especially 1 

the poor, the elderly and individuals born in other 2 

countries who might have a difficult time accessing 3 

personal documents like birth certificates. 4 

  Although states are not required to 5 

implement the Real ID Act, any state that chooses to 6 

opt out of the Act would greatly inconvenience its 7 

residents.  Individuals who currently use drivers 8 

license or state identification cards as their primary 9 

form of identification to board airplanes or to get in 10 

secure federal facilities would be unable to do so.  11 

Residents of non-compliant states would be left to 12 

using passports or some other federally-approved 13 

identification for these official purposes. 14 

Our right to travel within the United States has the 15 

potential to be significantly impacted by the Real ID 16 

Act. People who do not have Real ID-compliant license, 17 

have identification cards, may be unable to board 18 

airlines for basic travel. 19 

  All states and territories have been 20 

granted extensions through December 31st, 2009 by the 21 

Department of Homeland Security.  In Pennsylvania, as 22 

in many other states, our Transportation Department 23 

has been granted an extension by DHS, but has not 24 

indicated whether it intends to comply with the Act. 25 
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Moreover, both federal and state legislative 1 

initiatives have been introduced calling for a range 2 

of remedies regarding the Real ID Act, including 3 

repeal and revision of the law.  Between now and the 4 

extension deadline a decision will be made about 5 

Pennsylvania's compliance with the Act. 6 

  Legislators, advocates and other 7 

policymakers in Pennsylvania must work with PennDOT to 8 

evaluate the consequences and costs to the government 9 

and to residents of Pennsylvania to meet Real ID Act 10 

requirements and determine whether our state should 11 

comply with the Act.   12 

  Part of this evaluation involves 13 

education about the Act.  These hearings will serve to 14 

educate government officials and empower you, the 15 

residents, about the possible impact of the Real ID 16 

law.  We hope that legislators and other participants 17 

in these hearings will learn more about the Act and 18 

how this law will affect Pennsylvanians.  And at the 19 

end of the day your input and the input of other 20 

elected and appointed officials will govern what path 21 

we take in Pennsylvania with respect to the Real ID 22 

Act of 2005. 23 

  And so again, I want to thank each and 24 

every one of you.  Each of you should have a packet 25 
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which outlines --- which provides a wealth of 1 

information regarding the Act.  And to that end, I 2 

want to at least join me and say thank you to my 3 

staff, Seiju (phonetic) Stevens, Lisa Navras 4 

(phonetic), in the back, Allison Acevedo (phonetic), 5 

research analyst, and we have George Kremp (phonetic) 6 

and Representative Dave Steil.  They have been 7 

responsible putting this information together, 8 

scheduling and moving these hearings forward.  Let's 9 

give them a big hand. 10 

  And our stellar group of presenters this 11 

morning, and if you would turn to the agenda in your 12 

book, each presenter has documented testimony or 13 

written testimony that you can refer to.  And at this 14 

particular time we're going to start with a young man 15 

who has been all over the country talking to people 16 

about this Real ID Act and providing legislative 17 

bodies like the Pennsylvania General Assembly with 18 

both technical support and insight on the Real ID Act. 19 

  So at this particular time we'd like to 20 

hear from our friend, Mr. Jeremy Meadows, who is 21 

Senior Policy Director for the National Conference of 22 

State Legislatures.  Good morning, Mr. Meadows. 23 

  MR. MEADOWS: 24 

  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and thank you 25 
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very much for the opportunity to appear before your 1 

committee again.  Majority Chairman Thomas, Minority 2 

Chairman Steil, Real ID/Passport Co-Chair Brooks, 3 

members of the Pennsylvania House, thank you for the 4 

invitation to appear before the Committee on 5 

Intergovernmental Affairs with you today about Real 6 

ID. 7 

  I am Jeremy Meadows from the National 8 

Conference of State Legislatures, the bipartisan 9 

organization that serves the legislators and staff of 10 

our nation's 50 states, its commonwealths and 11 

territories.  NCSL provides research, technical 12 

assistance and opportunities for policymakers to 13 

exchange ideas on pressing state issues such as the 14 

Real ID.  The NCSL is also an effective and respected 15 

advocate for the interests of state governments before 16 

Congress and the federal agencies. 17 

  For NCSL to lobby an issue, state 18 

legislators from three-quarters of the states must 19 

agree on a position.  You and your elected colleagues 20 

determine not just what NCSL's lobbying priorities 21 

should be, but what message you want us to deliver to 22 

Congress and the federal administration on your 23 

behalf.  Since 2006, you have debated and set NCSL's 24 

policy on the Real ID and even the U.S. Department of 25 
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Homeland Security credits your engagement for 1 

dramatically altering the Real ID final regulations. 2 

  In my testimony today I would like to 3 

provide you with a brief history of the Real ID Act, 4 

review the Real ID final regulations, summary of state 5 

legislative activity on the Real ID, a snapshot of 6 

NCSL's work on Real ID and a Congressional update. 7 

  When the 9/11 Commission issued its final 8 

report it suggested that secure identification should 9 

begin in the United States.  The federal government 10 

should set standards for the issuance of birth 11 

certificates and sources of identification, such as 12 

driver's licenses.  Fraud in identification documents 13 

is no longer just a problem of theft.  At many entry 14 

points to vulnerable facilities, including gates for 15 

boarding aircrafts, sources of identification are the 16 

last opportunity to ensure that people are who they 17 

say they are and to check whether they are terrorists. 18 

  Congress acted to realize the 19 

Commission's recommendation and in December 2004, 20 

President George W. Bush signed into law the National 21 

Intelligence Reform Act of 2004.  That law, among 22 

other things, required the U.S. Secretary of 23 

Transportation to establish a negotiated rulemaking 24 

process to include state officials, privacy advocates, 25 
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information technology experts, federal transportation 1 

and Homeland Security officials and others to devise 2 

minimum standards for state issued driver's licenses 3 

and identification cards.  While the first meeting of 4 

the group had taken place, the collaborative process 5 

came to a screeching halt on May 11, 2005, when 6 

without a hearing in either chamber of the Congress, 7 

the Real ID Act was enacted as part of a supplemental 8 

spending bill for Tsunami relief and the war on 9 

terrorism. 10 

  In general, the act mandates states to 11 

issue Real ID-compliant driver's licenses and 12 

identification cards only to individuals lawfully 13 

present in the United States, pursuant to federal 14 

standards, which were to be the further defined by 15 

DHS.  If states do not comply, the federal government 16 

will not accept their IDs for official purposes.  17 

Official purpose is defined under the Act to include 18 

accessing federal facilities, boarding federally 19 

regulated commercial aircraft and entering nuclear 20 

power plants and other purposes that the Secretary of 21 

Homeland Security may determine.   22 

  On January 11, 2008, nearly three years 23 

after the enactment of the Real ID and just 120 days 24 

before the statutory implementation date, DHS issued 25 
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the final regulations to guide states' implementation 1 

of the Act. 2 

  The good news is that the final 3 

regulations seem to offer much more flexibility for 4 

states than was originally proposed to the draft 5 

regulations.  In particular, the regulations provide 6 

states additional time to re-enroll existing driver's 7 

license and identification card holders.  They allow 8 

for an age-based progressive re-enrollment process.  A 9 

state issued driver's license or identification card 10 

must meet the requirements of the Real ID by December 11 

1, 2014 for individuals born after December 1st, 1964 12 

and by December 1st, 2017 for individuals born before 13 

December 1, 1964.  Provide flexibility on security 14 

features on driver's licenses and identification 15 

cards.  The regulations allow states to determine 16 

which employees will be subject to background checks. 17 

And they establish a flexible waiver and exceptions 18 

process.  The final regulations also limit the 19 

official purpose to those listed in the Act. 20 

  Based on this added flexibility, DHS has 21 

re-estimated the 10-year costs to states at just under 22 

$4 billion, which is down $10 billion from the 23 

original $14 billion estimate.   24 

  The bad news is that a number of issues 25 
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remain unresolved, including the true cost of the Real 1 

ID, including the user fees states will have to pay 2 

when accessing databases, the federal government's 3 

commitment to fund the Real ID, and the connectivity 4 

to and governance of, including privacy protections, 5 

of the databases that states will need to access in 6 

order to electronically verify the validity of 7 

identify documents. 8 

  As mentioned earlier, DHS estimated in 9 

the final regulations that it will cost states $3.9 10 

billion to implement the Real ID.  However, NCSL fears 11 

those costs could be higher.  The $3.9 billion 12 

estimate assumes that only 75 percent of individuals 13 

currently holding a driver's license or identification 14 

card will apply for a Real ID, excluding the majority 15 

of individuals with a U.S. passport and those who do 16 

not fly commercially.   17 

  For passport holders to have this option, 18 

their state of residence must operate a two-tiered 19 

system offering both a Real ID-compliant and a non-20 

compliant card.  Does the $3.9 billion take into 21 

account the cost states face if they chose to operate 22 

a two-tiered system?   23 

  Further, does the $3.9 billion estimate 24 

take into account the fees states may face in order to 25 
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access the electronic databases to verify applicant 1 

information or the FBI databases required for employee 2 

background checks?  3 

  This concern with the fees will become 4 

even a bigger issue in October of this year when the 5 

transaction fee on one of the existing databases, the 6 

Systematic Alien Verification Entitlement System, will 7 

increase from a nickel to 50 cents for an initial 8 

inquiry. Because of all of these unknown costs, it is 9 

difficult for states to project the true fiscal impact 10 

of implementing Real ID. 11 

  Whether the cost is $3.9 billion or 12 

something higher, the fact still remains this is 13 

effectively an unfunded mandate.  Congress has 14 

appropriated only $90 million for state implementation 15 

of the Real ID and the president's fiscal year 2009 16 

budget proposal zeros out the grant program created by 17 

Congress in fiscal year 2008.  In its place the 18 

president's budget proposes to create a new $110 19 

million National Security and Terrorism Prevention 20 

grant program of which implementation of the Real ID 21 

is only one of the eligible expenses.  In addition, 22 

states have been authorized to use State Homeland 23 

Security Grant Program funds for Real ID 24 

implementation, but this money is largely already 25 
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spoken for by other homeland security priorities and 1 

that grant program is dramatically reduced in the 2 

president's proposed budget.  Neither the fiscal year 3 

2008 war supplemental funding bill nor the fiscal year 4 

2009 budget resolution now moving through Congress 5 

contains any dedicated funding for state Real ID 6 

implementation. 7 

  DHS has issued the grant guidance for the 8 

bulk of the $90 million already appropriated and a 9 

portion of the funds are targeted to support what many 10 

state legislators consider a federal responsibility, 11 

mainly the hub, how states will connect to the 12 

necessary databases and to each other.  Many governors 13 

and legislators feel that this hub should be a federal 14 

expense and should not soak up scare dollars for state 15 

implementation nor supplant state priorities. 16 

  Forty-five (45) of the 56 licensing 17 

jurisdictions subject to the Real ID have submitted 18 

grant applications.  It is our understanding that 19 

although this is a competitive grant program, all of 20 

the applying jurisdictions are to receive some portion 21 

of the available funds. 22 

  The Real ID requires states to 23 

electronically verify the validity of identification 24 

documents presented by every individual applying for 25 
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Real ID-compliant credential.  This process will 1 

require states to have access to at least five 2 

national databases.  However, not all of these 3 

databases exist and their availability and reliability 4 

on a national level have yet to be tested.  In 5 

addition, for several of these systems, the method by 6 

which states will connect to these systems and the 7 

governance structure for information sharing has yet 8 

to be resolved, causing much consternation. 9 

  In order to effectively implement the 10 

Real ID, these systems need to be made available and 11 

tested, not yesterday, not last week, but last year.  12 

However, in order to do that a governance structure to 13 

which all 56 U.S. licensing jurisdictions can agree 14 

has to be established.  The lack of a governance 15 

structure makes it difficult for legislators like 16 

yourselves, to respond to questions you receive from 17 

your constituents such as, who will have access to my 18 

information?  How will it be protected?  Is this a 19 

national database? 20 

  Legislators in 48 states and the District 21 

of Columbia have proposed over 200 pieces of 22 

legislation related to Real ID, and of those, at least 23 

42 states have considered legislation that either 24 

asserted the state's opposition to Real ID or urged 25 
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Congress to amend or repeal the Act. 1 

  As of May 19th, 2008, anti-Real ID 2 

measures had passed in 21 states.  Seven of those 3 

states, Idaho, Maine, Montana, New Hampshire, 4 

Oklahoma, South Carolina and Washington, passed bills 5 

that forbid state agencies from complying with Real 6 

ID.  Legislators in several states are currently 7 

considering similar proposals. 8 

  Not all responses to the Real ID Act have 9 

been negative.  Since 2005 legislators in 19 states 10 

have proposed measures that would bring their states 11 

closer to compliance with Real ID.  Lawmakers in at 12 

least five states, Indiana, Michigan, Nevada, Ohio and 13 

Wisconsin, have passed Real ID compliance-related 14 

laws. 15 

  Although the May 11th, 2008 statutory 16 

deadline has passed and a number of state legislatures 17 

are still debating whether to implement the Real ID, 18 

the final regulations provided states the opportunity 19 

to request an extension to December 31, 2009.  All 56 20 

U.S. licensing jurisdictions have received an 21 

extension, several, even though they didn't ask for 22 

one. 23 

  What happens next?  The final regulations 24 

include a list of 18 interim benchmarks that a state 25 
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must meet in order to be considered materially 1 

compliant.  If a state has met these 18 benchmarks by 2 

December 31, 2009 and still needs additional time in 3 

order to come into full compliance with the Real ID, 4 

the state can request a second extension until May 11, 5 

2011. 6 

  While DHS originally indicated that 7 

requesting the first of the two possible deadline 8 

extensions would not commit states to implementing 9 

Real ID, several articles published around the country 10 

in early March quoted DHS spokespeople as saying that 11 

states' requests for extensions are good faith 12 

indications of a state's intent to comply. 13 

  Given the amount of state legislative 14 

activity, it should not come as a surprise that the 15 

Real ID had been an issue of many hours of discussion 16 

and debate and NCSL meetings over the past several 17 

years, which has resulted in the following policy 18 

position.  NCSL calls on Congress to repeal the Real 19 

ID Act and reinstitute the negotiated rulemaking 20 

process created under the Intelligence Reform and 21 

Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004, and fully fund the 22 

requirements of the final rule promulgated under the 23 

negotiated rulemaking process. 24 

  Given NCSL's current position, a letter 25 
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was sent last month in support of Senate Bill 717, the 1 

Identification Security Enhancement Act of 2007, which 2 

repeals the Real ID and reinstitutes the negotiated 3 

rulemaking process that preceded it.   4 

  This legislation was first introduced at 5 

the end of the 109th Congress by United States 6 

Senators Akaka of Hawaii and Sununu from New 7 

Hampshire.   When the 110th Congress dawned in 2007, 8 

Senators Akaka and Sununu were joined by Senators 9 

Leahy in Vermont and Tester of Montana to reintroduce 10 

their repeal and replace legislation.  Senators 11 

Alexander of Tennessee, Baucus of Montana, Kerry of 12 

Massachusetts and McCaskill of Missouri have also 13 

joined as co-sponsors.  On the House side, Congressman 14 

Allen of Maine has introduced similar legislation and 15 

that bill has 35 co-sponsors.  In addition, NCSL has 16 

requested that the administration and Congress provide 17 

at least $1 billion in fiscal year 2008 funds for 18 

state implementation. 19 

  As for other Real ID-related 20 

congressional activity, several measures have been 21 

introduced to suggest more stringent means for 22 

encouraging states to comply with Real ID.  There have 23 

also been several legislative attempts to expand the 24 

use of Real IDs.  Some bills have called for states to 25 
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use Real IDs for voter registration purposes and one 1 

immigration bill item linked Real ID to employment 2 

eligibility.  Thus far none of those measures have 3 

passed or been adopted, but their introduction may 4 

raise a specter. 5 

  At the end of April, Senator Akaka 6 

invited NCSL to testify before his Senate Homeland 7 

Security and Governmental Affairs Subcommittee.  NCSL 8 

President, Representative Donna Stone from Delaware, 9 

represented NCSL at the April 29, 2008 hearing.  This 10 

is only the second congressional hearing on the Real 11 

ID.  The first was held last March in the same 12 

subcommittee. 13 

  NCSL's policy process will continue to 14 

determine NCSL's posture on Real ID and I encourage 15 

you to be involved in that process so that 16 

Pennsylvania's interests are factored into the debate. 17 

NCSL's Transportation Committee, which has 18 

jurisdiction for Real ID policy, will next meet at 19 

NCSL's Legislative Summit this July in New Orleans.  20 

NCSL will continue to monitor state activity on the 21 

Real ID as well as developments on Capital Hill or 22 

within DHS and we look forward to remaining a resource 23 

to you as you consider Pennsylvania's best course of 24 

action.  To access NCSL's policy positions, summary 25 
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briefs, links to the referenced congressional 1 

legislation as well as much more information on Real 2 

ID, visit ncsl.org/real.id, which is open to the 3 

public. 4 

  Thank you again for the opportunity to 5 

appear before you today and I do look forward to your 6 

questions. 7 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 8 

  Thank you, Mr. Meadows.  Before we go for 9 

our questions, let me just bring your attention to two 10 

things.  Number one, on page 47, if you count 47 pages 11 

into your booklet, you will find a list of all of your 12 

congressional representatives from Pennsylvania.  13 

Remember we said this was a federal law, so if you do 14 

not know how to get in touch with your congressman or 15 

senator, the information is on pages 43 to 47.   16 

  The next thing, as we go to the back of 17 

your booklet, the last page, the last page outlines 18 

the 18 benchmarks or 18 minimum standards that each 19 

state must satisfy in order to be Real ID-compliant.  20 

But it's here to just give you an idea of what those 21 

standards are.  So at this particular time, let me 22 

start from my right, and ask Representative Hornaman 23 

if he has any questions for Mr. Meadows. 24 

  REPRESENTATIVE HORNAMAN: 25 
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  What would make the transition for an age 1 

16 driver's license to the Real ID card so costly? In 2 

other words, much of that information is already 3 

included on our state driver's license.   4 

  MR. MEADOWS: 5 

  Obviously the cost is one that vary 6 

across the states.  Some states have implemented 7 

measures to improve the security of their licenses; 8 

other states have not done as much.  It's my 9 

understanding that Pennsylvania has already made many 10 

of the changes that Real ID may envision.  But some of 11 

the cost factors include accessing the databases, 12 

building the systems that will access those databases 13 

and retain and share all the information that is 14 

envisioned for Real ID.  Also, many states are facing 15 

significant costs because they may not have a 16 

centralized issuing process and they may have to go 17 

from issuing driver's licenses same day at a county 18 

clerk's office to a centralized system, so that's a 19 

possibility for many states. 20 

  There are also the costs of securing the 21 

production facilities.  There are now security 22 

measures that will be extended in order to ensure that 23 

there is no breach of its facilities or theft of card 24 

stock or other production materials.  States will now 25 
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have to do background checks on some DMV employees, 1 

which is a cost that is probably new.  Many states are 2 

having to go to a photo capture at application as 3 

opposed to at issuance for a driver's license.  That 4 

has cost implications for some states. 5 

  So there are a number of things that do 6 

actually add up into a pretty big cost tally.  Again, 7 

Pennsylvania, to my understanding, has already begun 8 

to change some of these systems, but that's not to say 9 

that there is no cost involved. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE HORNAMAN: 11 

  Thank you, and thank you, Mr. Chairman. 12 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 13 

  Thank you.  Representative Fabrizio, do 14 

you have any questions? 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE FABRIZIO: 16 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Not so much 17 

questions.  If you remember the movie Bridge On the 18 

River Kwai, the last word in the move, madness, this 19 

whole thing might be madness. 20 

  My concern is not so much as what is 21 

written, but what is unwritten.  We have some minimum 22 

mandates that we have to place on these cards.  Is 23 

there anything to preclude a maximum?  Is there 24 

anything that can't be put on these cards?  That's 25 
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what my concern is.  In the legislation itself, we 1 

have minimum standards that we put on the card.  Is 2 

there anything in the language of the Act that 3 

precludes putting anything else on those cards? 4 

  MR. MEADOWS: 5 

  No.  The legislation requires minimum 6 

standards.  It is up to the states to determine what, 7 

if anything else, to be put on the cards.  So the 8 

federal government is not providing a cap.  They're 9 

providing the minimum. 10 

  REPRESENTATIVE FABRIZIO: 11 

  Thank you. 12 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 13 

  Thank you, Representative Fabrizio.  Now 14 

we will hear from Representative Harkins. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE HARKINS: 16 

  Nothing at this time. 17 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 18 

  Okay.  Representative Roae from Crawford 19 

County. 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 21 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  There doesn't 22 

seem to be anything in the Real ID Act that would 23 

actually do anything.  Our border would still be 24 

porous.  People could still sneak into the country.  25 
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The people that are here legally, like us, we're going 1 

to be harassed by this it just seems like.  Is there 2 

any kind of indication that this would actually 3 

accomplish anything other than be a great expense and 4 

a great inconvenience? 5 

  MR. MEADOWS:   6 

  Well, there certainly is an immigration 7 

linkage to the Real ID, because one of the major 8 

changes or major differences between the negotiated 9 

rulemaking process that preceded it and the Real ID 10 

itself is the fact that a state would have to verify 11 

lawful presence of an applicant and can only issue a 12 

Real ID-compliant driver's license or identification 13 

card to a lawfully present individual.  So there is 14 

definitely an immigration issue relating to Real ID. 15 

  While as you point out, it obviously is 16 

not intended to be a border crossing card or to relate 17 

to border security, a Real ID-compliant card could 18 

only be issued to lawfully present citizens or 19 

immigrants. 20 

  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 21 

  Because say that somebody going to sneak 22 

into the county, sneak across the border, drive, just 23 

not get a driver's license, and this would do nothing 24 

to stop that it seems like.  It just seems like an 25 
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expensive way to not really do that much. 1 

  MR. MEADOWS: 2 

  If you're not trying to board a 3 

commercial aircraft or enter a federal building or 4 

enter a nuclear power plant, you're correct. 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 6 

  As far as the federal facilities that 7 

would only let you in, we have a, you know, a 8 

federally approved, you know, form, what kind of 9 

impact does that have if there's somebody who's on 10 

jury duty, you know, right across the street here in 11 

the federal courthouse, you get called for jury duty 12 

and you don't have an approved ID card, they couldn't 13 

let you in? 14 

  MR. MEADOWS: 15 

  DHS has stressed the fact that you would 16 

only need to present a Real ID-compliant card to enter 17 

federal buildings that require identification.  18 

Apparently all federal buildings do not require 19 

identification.  For instance, on Capital Hill at the 20 

moment you need photo ID to enter the capital itself, 21 

but not the congressional office buildings.  So not 22 

all federal buildings are going to require photo ID.  23 

The ones that do they will need to be Real ID-24 

compliant. 25 
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  However, at this point I also want to 1 

stress that other federally-issued identification 2 

cards, including a passport, unlimited passport, would 3 

be acceptable.  Military IDs, veterans IDs, federal 4 

employee IDs, et cetera, other federally-issued  5 

identification credentials would serve the same 6 

purpose as a same issue Real ID-compliant card. 7 

  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 8 

  Okay.  Thank you.  I have no other 9 

questions. 10 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 11 

  Thank you.  Representative Sonney. 12 

  REPRESENTATIVE SONNEY: 13 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Do we know if 14 

this is going to have any effect at all on citizens 15 

accessing any federal programs, signing up for Social 16 

Security for example? 17 

  MR. MEADOWS: 18 

  At this point it doesn't seem that it 19 

would.  But as I mentioned, there have been some 20 

efforts in Congress to make employment verification 21 

linked to Real ID.  There have been some efforts to 22 

link other programs to Real ID.  Those have been 23 

defeated on Capital Hill at this point.  But as 24 

currently written in the statute, as currently written 25 
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in the final regs, no, there would not be a problem. 1 

  You would need to have a Social Security 2 

number and be able to present your Social Security 3 

card in order to get a Real ID from your state DMV, 4 

but at this point it's not necessarily envisioned that 5 

it’ll go that direction. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE SONNEY: 7 

  And does this change in any way 8 

regulations for federal employees to receive their 9 

IDs? In other words, you said if you have federal 10 

identification that that would effect preclude the 11 

Real ID Act. So does this legislation stipulate any 12 

changes in the way that the federal government issues 13 

their identification? 14 

  MR. MEADOWS: 15 

  Not at this time.  And frankly, that's 16 

one of the ironies that we find in the final 17 

regulations.  A passport is one of the documents that 18 

an applicant can present in order to --- one of the 19 

many documents that they can present in order to start 20 

the Real ID application process.  However, a passport 21 

will serve all the same purposes as a Real ID.  And 22 

yet the state DMV cannot just accept a passport alone 23 

and deem the person with Real ID-eligible.  So we find 24 

lots of irony in that fact. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE SONNEY: 1 

  Thank you.   2 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 3 

  Thank you, Representative.  4 

Representative Brooks? 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 6 

  With identify theft happening every four 7 

minutes in the United States, one of my concerns is 8 

the protection of this system as far as people being 9 

able to hack into it or ---.  Can you expound on that 10 

as to whether you think that would be possible or what 11 

are some of the safety mechanisms that we could put 12 

into place?   13 

  MR. MEADOWS: 14 

  Regarding the databases or the 15 

verification systems, one of the challenges that we 16 

have right now is that there are all these remaining 17 

questions.  The final regulations do not necessarily 18 

stipulate many details for the systems.  They are 19 

leaving it to the states to determine the governance 20 

structure of the systems that interconnect the state 21 

DMVs and create the access points for the federal 22 

databases.  But again, at the same time before that 23 

governance structure, which would presumably provide 24 

all the protections that you just discussed, it's 25 
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created a situation where states that are expected to 1 

go forward and make decisions about the Real ID.  So 2 

that's one of the challenges.  There are still 3 

remaining questions about how those systems will 4 

interact. 5 

  The one thing that does seem evident, 6 

however, is that the SAVE system, which is one of the 7 

databases that states will need to access, is facing a 8 

fee increase for accessing that system. 9 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 10 

  And the states that have expressed 11 

concern in regard to this law, has there been a  12 

desire --- I'm following up on Representative 13 

Fabrizio.  Has there been a desire for a consistent or 14 

a uniform benchmark so that everything would be 15 

uniform across the country instead of, you know, 16 

Pennsylvania having one piece of requirement and North 17 

Carolina having another?  Has there been any movement 18 

or momentum to try and create uniformity with this? 19 

  MR. MEADOWS: 20 

  Some states, perhaps not in their 21 

statutes, but in their discussions about Real ID, have 22 

suggested that uniformity could be obtained with a 23 

passport.  But the states that have opted out of Real 24 

ID at this point largely cited privacy concerns, 25 
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federalism concerns and cost concerns.   1 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 2 

  And that leads to my next question.  I 3 

know that in a short time we will be required to 4 

present a passport if we, say, we want to travel into 5 

Canada.  Would that change at all?  Would this part 6 

actually serve or suffice in replacement of the 7 

passport? 8 

  MR. MEADOWS: 9 

  No.  There's some confusion between two 10 

DHS initiatives.  One is the Real ID, which basically 11 

can only be issued to lawfully present individuals, 12 

either citizens or legal residents, legal foreign 13 

residents, and another DHS program in response to the 14 

Western Hemisphere Travel Initiative.  And many 15 

states, including Washington and Vermont and Arizona 16 

are exploring enhanced driver's licenses, or EDLs, 17 

that would be issued only to U.S. citizens.  18 

  Many of the provisions seem to be similar 19 

to Real ID, but those EDLs would replace the passport 20 

only for land crossing.  You still would not be able 21 

to use an EDL or a Real ID-compliant driver's license 22 

for air travel to Canada. 23 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 24 

  And it just seems as though there could 25 
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be some additional thought put into this in the 1 

planning that we don't have a duplicative process, 2 

that we're now encroaching, you know, on our residents 3 

to the cost.  You know, one, they would be required to 4 

have a passport and then secondly this with the photo 5 

ID or the Real ID.  And I really wish there was a 6 

desire to look at that to either blend those two 7 

together so that we're not duplicating, because it 8 

really does seem like it's more of a duplication for 9 

our residents and just --- you know, another cost to 10 

them. 11 

  MR. MEADOWS: 12 

  Well, I might suggest that if Senator 13 

Akaka's legislation were to move and we had the 14 

opportunity to go back to a negotiated ruling process 15 

for Real ID, some of those considerations could 16 

actually be put on the table. 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 18 

  Thank you very much. 19 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 20 

  Thank you, Representative Brooks.  Also 21 

I'd like to mention that Representative Brooks is co-22 

chair of the House of Intergovernmental Affairs Real 23 

ID Task Force, which has been working in tandem with 24 

the full committee in dealing with this issue.   25 
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  Mr. Meadows, let me thank NCSL, and thank 1 

you for your leadership.  Let me ask, if states sign 2 

on to Senate Bill 717, and take us back to rulemaking, 3 

number one, how many states have signed on so far and 4 

number two, will that provide the opportunity to get 5 

at both the finances necessary to deal with Real ID, 6 

but would it also give us an opportunity to get some 7 

of these questions around implementation, around 8 

privacy, around duplication of the process?   So will 9 

717 allow for that kind of conversation? 10 

  MR. MEADOWS: 11 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I think that 12 

the negotiated ruling process does allow you to put 13 

all of those issues back on the table and come up with 14 

a set of standards for state-issued driver's licenses 15 

that responds to all of those various interests, 16 

privacy, cost, complexity, duplication.   I think all 17 

of those things could be part of the discussion.  And 18 

NCSL has suggested that we don't have to start from 19 

scratch if we go back to a negotiated rulemaking 20 

process. 21 

  There are many elements of the final 22 

regulations issued by DHS that do respond to state 23 

interests and that we may have a more advanced 24 

starting position now than we did in 2004.  So it's 25 
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not starting over and it's certainly not an abdication 1 

of state interest in secure driver's license and 2 

identification cards.  But we do think that all of 3 

these elements and all the states that are interested 4 

in those elements could be brought to the table so 5 

that we can come up with some minimum standards that 6 

everybody can agree on and would actually perhaps move 7 

the process forward in a more timely fashion and in a 8 

loss costly fashion. 9 

  In terms of the states that endorse 717, 10 

the response is that you do have senators from 11 

Vermont, Montana, Tennessee, Hawaii, New Hampshire and 12 

Missouri already signed on as co-sponsors for that 13 

bill.  There are obviously, you know, other key 14 

senators, such as Senator Specter, ranking member of 15 

the Senator Judiciary Committee, and NCSL is actively 16 

lobbying him to co-sponsor or at least support Senate 17 

Bill 717 so that it can be heard in the Senate 18 

Judiciary Committee and perhaps moved to the floor. 19 

But we do note that that's a fairly good 20 

representative showing at this point. 21 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 22 

  Thank you.  Some members of the committee 23 

and myself met with Senator Specter, Congressman Dent, 24 

and Congressman Carney.  I guess it was a couple weeks 25 
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ago in Washington.  Congressman Carney and Congressman 1 

Dent expressed a real interest in Senate Bill 717.  2 

And I would not be surprised if one or both of them 3 

has signed --- has already signed on to 717. 4 

  Senator Specter, we did not have a chance 5 

to meet with him directly, but we met with his chief 6 

legal consulate.  She indicated that the senator had 7 

an interest about many of the questions have been 8 

raised around Real ID and that he would be responding 9 

to it very soon.  So that’s Senator Specter, 10 

Congressman Carney and Congressman Dent, for those of 11 

you that might come from their congressional 12 

districts.   13 

  Again, thank you, Mr. Meadows.  We are 14 

going to be paying very close attention here in 15 

Pennsylvania.   16 

  Is there anyone in the audience that has 17 

a burning question?  We usually reserve some time at 18 

the end to hear from you, but if there's a couple 19 

burning questions for Mr. Meadows we will take those 20 

at this time.  One, two, three. 21 

  AUDIENCE SPEAKER: 22 

  I just hope the state legislators will 23 

not stoop to realize the Act, as the American Nazi 24 

party supports it.   25 
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  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 1 

  Yes.  Yes. 2 

  AUDIENCE SPEAKER: 3 

  I'd like to know --- I would like to know 4 

how this complies with the United States Constitution 5 

and the Supreme Court case, United States versus Guest 6 

(phonetic), 383 U.S. 745.57.  That is that the 7 

Constitution protects every citizen's right to travel 8 

from state to state. 9 

  MR. MEADOWS: 10 

  Without responding to the specific court 11 

case that you've cited, I would think that the Real ID 12 

does not --- if a state chooses not to comply with 13 

Real ID and not to issue Real ID-compliant driver's 14 

licenses and identification cards, residents can still 15 

travel. You would just need to --- you would be 16 

voluntarily subjected to secondary screening in order 17 

to pass through the airport security.   18 

  Even at this time you can travel without 19 

any photo identification, but the Transportation 20 

Security Administration routes you over to secondary 21 

screening.  And so presumably someone traveling 22 

without a Real ID-compliant driver's license or 23 

identification card who does not have some other form 24 

of federally-issued identification would face the same 25 
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situation.   1 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 2 

  Okay.  In the back? 3 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 4 

  Yes.  I mean, you testified how many 5 

states are joining this, how many states have declined 6 

it.   7 

  MR. MEADOWS: 8 

  There are currently seven states that 9 

have put in statute that they will not comply with 10 

Real ID. 11 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 12 

  I thought there was 13. 13 

  MR. MEADOWS: 14 

  Seven.  Seven that have put it in 15 

statutes.  Other states have considered resolutions, 16 

non-binding resolutions indicating a lack of interest 17 

in complying, but only seven states have actually put 18 

it in statute. 19 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 20 

  I'd like to follow up with him real 21 

quickly about the right to travel.  That was only one 22 

court case.  There's several court cases underneath 23 

the Supreme Court ruling you can't even implement a 24 

driver's license reg unless it's for commercial use.  25 
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Will this be for commercial use or does it --- put 1 

limits on the right to travel?  You know, there's a 2 

distinction. We want to know the distinction. 3 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 4 

  I think he's referring to Sarbanes 5 

(phonetic) versus Citizens.  Sarbanes had regulated 6 

the travel.  He has a right to travel.  There's no 7 

documentation required for that.  So it encroached 8 

upon sovereign rights to require you to present 9 

identification to travel within their own country.  10 

And my other question following that, is --- but if 11 

legislators vote for this piece of legislation that 12 

violates this constitution and they are sued for 13 

violating their own constitution, who's going to pay 14 

for that?  You guys going to help them out on that? 15 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 16 

  I think I'm going to jump in on that.  17 

Once again, Mr. Meadows is a representative of 18 

National Conference of State Legislatures.   19 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 20 

  Well, that's the good.  I just want to 21 

know if he can help you guys out if you get sued. 22 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 23 

  Well, we’re on the front line in making 24 

sure that you're aware of the Real ID Act.  The issues 25 
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around the right to travel are issues that have been 1 

raised by, I believe, ACLU and several other 2 

organizations.  There is nothing in the law that 3 

specifically says that Real ID will impact your 4 

constitutional right to travel.  So until something 5 

definite happens, I don't know whether we can draw a 6 

conclusion.  But you need to know that the potential 7 

for interfering with the right to travel is there. 8 

  At this particular time, thank you.  As I 9 

mentioned at the end we'll set aside some time for 10 

others who might have questions, questions and 11 

comments as they relate to the Real ID Act.  Okay?  Is 12 

that all right with you?   13 

  Now we're going to hear from Mr. Neil 14 

Berro, who's the Director of Community Relations for 15 

Coalition for a Secure Driver's License. Mr. Berro. 16 

  MR. BERRO: 17 

  Thank you.  You might even consider us 18 

friends, Chairman Thomas.  This is my third time 19 

before you. 20 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 21 

  Yes, it is your third time and we're glad 22 

to have you. 23 

  MR. BERRO: 24 

  Thank you.  A few quick observations.  I 25 
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think that was an excellent, outstanding summary.  1 

With regard to the enhanced driver's license, there is 2 

a difference in the technology between an enhanced 3 

driver's license and a Real ID driver's license.  The 4 

enhanced driver's license has an RID (phonetic) chip. 5 

The Real ID driver's license has no requirement for 6 

that.   7 

  With regard to --- I spend regular time 8 

at the --- with DMVs and BMVs.  In fact, I'm on the 9 

eastern sling of a mid-western trip having just come 10 

from several DMVs and I worked very closely with 11 

industry in general.  And even in the general trend 12 

around the country, I think without exception that we 13 

noted in our research, is that state DMVs and BMVs are 14 

generally moving to higher standards of licensing.  15 

And Pennsylvania, as we noted in our Pittsburgh 16 

testimony, generally falls towards the tighter area of 17 

state licensing.  And we'd also note with regard to 18 

the very nature of the concern, which I’ll also 19 

address specifically in my testimony.  With regard to 20 

the identify theft question, I would commend your 21 

attention to the FTC report I believe issued February 22 

'08 also in conjunction with Secret Service report on 23 

the burgeoning statistics that you allude to, 24 

Representative.  Between 30 and 35 percent of cases of 25 
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fraud involve fraudulent or counterfeit driver's 1 

license. 2 

  So I would also say, too, one thing that 3 

our organization was very happy on, about a year or so 4 

and continues still looking forward to being at NCSL 5 

in New Orleans this summer, is that we fully support 6 

federal support and funding for this to alleviate 7 

states, and the negotiated process that resulted in 8 

the final rule that was alluded to, had some 21,000 9 

public comments, including extensive interaction by 10 

public officials in all 50 states resulting in a net 11 

estimated cost reductions of about 70 to 75 percent 12 

against the original cost estimate. 13 

  With that I'll go to some of my formal 14 

remarks.  My name is Neil Berro.  I'm the spokesman 15 

for the Coalition for a Secure Driver's License, also 16 

known as CSDL.  We are a not-for-profit and non-17 

partisan organization with offices in New York City 18 

and Washington, D.C.  Our central objective is to 19 

educate the public as well as state and local 20 

government officials about the importance of 21 

establishing and maintaining high security standards 22 

for driver licenses and other identity documents. 23 

  This is indeed our third opportunity to 24 

testify before the committee on this important 25 
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subject.  Our primary presentation in Pittsburgh on 1 

March 13th dealt with the anti-fraud components of 2 

federal regulations implementing PL109-13 that combat 3 

identity fraud.  Our May 8th testimony in Scranton 4 

focused primarily on combating the long-established 5 

myths in regards to Real ID and offered factual 6 

support as to how Pennsylvania has seen identity fraud 7 

tied to driver license processes that facilitated the 8 

crimes of a very large cocaine distribution gang.  And 9 

in that testimony, which I suspect was distributed, we 10 

cited the detailed docket references of the 11 

individuals who employed identify theft as part of 12 

their criminal activities, up to and including murder. 13 

  In that earlier testimony I explained how 14 

Real ID-compliant driver licenses are a key public 15 

safety component for airport inspections, showed how 16 

insufficient document validation by state DMVs 17 

facilitate violent crimes by crooks hiding under 18 

assumed identities and explained that the 19 

infrastructure and data protection requirements of 20 

federal driver license regulations will require the 21 

states to close security loopholes that today 22 

facilitate criminals and illegal immigrants. 23 

  Today I want to take time to attempt to 24 

help overcome some of this disinformation about PL109-25 
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13.  First, the purpose of the Real ID Act, which is 1 

now Public Law 109-13, was to strengthen the state 2 

system of driver licenses so that federal inspectors 3 

and law enforcement officers would be better able to 4 

identify people who may pose a risk to the rest of us. 5 

And I do take note of the fact that the Fraternal 6 

Order of police is a strong supporter of this process. 7 

The law and accompanying Congressional explanations 8 

emphasized the need to strengthen the state driver 9 

license regime so that the state driver license would 10 

provide reasonable certainty that the states had 11 

confirmed the actual identity of the person issued a 12 

driver's license. 13 

  At the time members of the Congress were 14 

concerned about the inability to the United States to 15 

tell with any accuracy whether an individual 16 

possessing a driver's license was lawfully present in 17 

the United States.  Let me say that this risk to 18 

public safety continues, because the Real ID Act 19 

clearly is a long way from being implemented or 20 

enforced by the federal government.  In fact, the 21 

dates cited do go out to 2017.  And I would also say 22 

that there's a very substantial and continuing risk to 23 

the United States residents from foreign terrorists. 24 

  The major weakness among state driver 25 
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license systems in general include insufficient 1 

training for processing clerks combined with an 2 

absence of third-party validation of documents that 3 

results in limited protection against fraudulent 4 

documents.  This vulnerability is the means by which 5 

cocaine distribution gangs indicted by Pennsylvania's 6 

Attorney General were able to obtain valid driver 7 

licenses through the use of stolen identities.  It's 8 

also why research data shows that fraudulent driver 9 

licenses are a factor in 35 percent of federal 10 

investigations of identity theft and fraud. 11 

  No requirement or proof of lawful 12 

presence or alternatively such a low standard for 13 

documentary proof that there is little barrier against 14 

those not lawfully present in this country.  And that 15 

is a reference to the fact that in general, 16 

irrespective of state politics, the respective states’ 17 

position on Real ID, in general, the DMVs and the 18 

political leadership recognize we need for tightened 19 

standards. 20 

  There's also an undue reliance on 21 

identity documents that can be easily forged or 22 

counterfeited, and an unwillingness to spend money on 23 

physically secure features embedded in the card to 24 

prevent counterfeiting.  The result of this 25 
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vulnerability is an inability by law enforcement 1 

officials to visually differentiate between real and 2 

fake driver licenses and a consequent high level of 3 

safety risk for the police as well as the public. 4 

  No background investigations of DMV 5 

employees.  I just came from several states which have 6 

very certain background investigations of all senior 7 

DMV officials.  Failing to check out key employees 8 

creates an environment where there's no barrier to 9 

collusion between criminals and state employees.  10 

While most DMV employees are surely honest, there are 11 

always a few bad apples.  And those crooks looking for 12 

inside contacts to facilitate fraud will find those 13 

bad apples.  Over the past five years there have been 14 

large scale prosecutions of corrupt DMV employees in 15 

Virginia, New Jersey and Tennessee. 16 

  Earlier this week, on May 19th, a former 17 

DMV employee in the District of Columbia was sentenced 18 

to a multi-year prison term for soliciting and 19 

accepting bribes in the sale of over 200 driver 20 

licenses.  For those who assume this is just about 21 

immigration, Ms. Gonzalez not only fraudulently 22 

reported immigration status, but she also falsified 23 

records about driving exams. 24 

  Essentially her illegal alien customers 25 
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were able to avoid all the rules of the District of 1 

Columbia DMV by paying her $500 or more per license, 2 

and that means unsafe drivers are on the road.  And 3 

Ms. Gonzalez' customers are almost all still out there 4 

on the roads, and most are living in Virginia and 5 

other states and police are unable to locate them. 6 

Even though the DMV has cancelled the fraudulently 7 

issued licenses, the people who obtained them are 8 

still out there and using those licenses to drive.  9 

This is a serious public safety issue throughout the 10 

country. 11 

  Those same problems exist here in 12 

Pennsylvania as demonstrated by the 40-plus members of 13 

the cocaine gang indicted recently by the state 14 

Attorney General.  The Gonzalez case illustrates how a 15 

valid driver's license issued through fraud is worth 16 

hundreds or perhaps thousands of dollars to the person 17 

who needs it.  That is because a driver's license in 18 

an assumed name allows an illegal alien or a criminal 19 

or a foreign terrorist to hide in plain site. 20 

  Believe me when I say that I understand 21 

your concerns about the federal government having 22 

access to private identity information.  But you 23 

should know that you are attacking the wrong law when 24 

you protest the Real ID Act.  The Real ID Act and 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

53

Public Law 109-13 does not actually increase any 1 

federal access to your identity information.  Federal 2 

law enforcement agents have had access to state 3 

driver's license data well before the Real ID Act was 4 

passed.  They have access to state driver license 5 

records under provisions of the Social Security Act 6 

and under various Internal Revenue acts, under certain 7 

banking acts and under a whole variety of federal 8 

criminal statutes. 9 

  What the Real ID Act accomplishes is to 10 

authorize individual states to confirm driver license 11 

data with other states.  It does that so that a state 12 

like Pennsylvania can confirm that the driver license 13 

issued in a state such as New York, which is being 14 

presented by an applicant for a Pennsylvania license 15 

was validly issued to that same person.  In other 16 

words, a clerk at the Pennsylvania DMV can quickly 17 

validate that the person standing in front of the 18 

counter is the same person to which the New York 19 

license was issued.  Or in some cases, the clerk can 20 

determine that the person standing at the counter is 21 

an identity thief and that the thief is attempting to 22 

build a new and false identity through a series of 23 

records and is, in fact, attempting to perpetrate a 24 

fraud on the Pennsylvania DMV. 25 
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  Now, there's some people who don't want 1 

the Pennsylvania DMV to have the option of confirming 2 

an out of state license quickly and securely, but most 3 

of our citizens do.  Why don't some people want an out 4 

of state license confirmed?  It's because those same 5 

people have lost their license in another state. 6 

  On Tuesday morning of this week, a driver 7 

who obtained a New Jersey driver's license by fraud 8 

after New York suspended his license for drunk 9 

driving, critically injured a police officer by 10 

crashing into his police cruiser.  You need to 11 

understand that the interstate connectivity, which 12 

will be established under the Real ID implementation 13 

will address those problems. 14 

  And I wanted to digress by saying, one of 15 

the most famous cases in this area, which made 16 

national, occurred in the fall by 2006.   At that 17 

time, an individual unlawfully present, an illegal 18 

alien, living in North Carolina went into the State of 19 

Maryland, which to this day has no lawful presence 20 

requirement at issuance of a driver's license.  21 

Maryland never bothered to notice that the individual 22 

had been arrested three different times for drunk 23 

driving, had been convicted once, was issued a full-24 

term Maryland unrestricted driver's license.  On a 25 
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night in Baltimore in the fall, that individual plowed 1 

through a red light on a Baltimore City street 2 

effectively killing two 23-year-olds out on a first 3 

date.  The male had just returned from Baghdad serving 4 

his country less than a week before.  When police 5 

investigated this matter it took them four to five 6 

days to even determine whether the person was in the 7 

country lawfully.  That's the consequence of having 8 

weak identification standards in the issuance of 9 

driver licenses. 10 

  I know, in fact, as been seen and I have 11 

a heard several comments, and I clearly hear and hear 12 

again today that so many of the Americans have lost 13 

faith in the federal government.  Unfortunately, the 14 

misrepresentations by some of our leaders regarding, 15 

for example, the reasons for the invasion of Iraq, 16 

have caused many people indeed to lose that trust in 17 

federal government in all regards.  That lack of trust 18 

clearly has contributed to opposition to efforts to 19 

improve the security of identity documents.  And 20 

that's, I think, a very regrettable consequence to our 21 

conversation.   22 

  There's also, in addition, a very large 23 

lobby of organizations who oppose Real ID because they 24 

see it as having negative impact or a negative 25 
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consequence to the 12 to 20 million illegal aliens 1 

residing in the United States.  There is no doubt that 2 

the organizations and employers who benefit from the 3 

current immigration mess are putting their money 4 

behind opposition to Real ID.  The question is, does 5 

the public benefit when states are encouraged to allow 6 

people to cheat the system?  I don’t think a case can 7 

be made.   8 

  And everybody in this room knows that 9 

long before Governor Spitzer here had his celebrated 10 

public mishap resulting in his resignation in the 11 

State of New York when it was one of the liberal 12 

states in this country, there was overwhelming wall-to 13 

wall-opposition, 80 percent opposition, including over 14 

100 democratically elected public officials who 15 

opposed the loosening of New York's licensing 16 

standards.  And to that degree, the most recent 17 

national survey that I'm familiar with on this matter, 18 

the Zogby poll, showed that 89 percent conservatives, 19 

70 percent of lawyers and 49 percent self-described 20 

liberals support higher standards for driver license 21 

issuing. 22 

  It doesn't matter whether the fraud is 23 

undertaken by terrorists or by identity thieves or by 24 

illegal aliens.  The threat and risk to the safety of 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

57

Americans posed by the current fragmented situation of 1 

50 different states, of 50 different wide-ranging 2 

standards from states like Pennsylvania skewing 3 

towards the higher end, to states that will accept a 4 

five-year old utility bill for identification, is one 5 

that is not addressing the problem. 6 

  For many years the states have worked 7 

together to police commercial drivers' licenses, as 8 

referenced in the audience, to prevent bad drivers and 9 

criminals from exploiting interstate opportunities.  10 

There are federal regulations for commercial driver 11 

licenses enforced by both the Department of 12 

Transportation and the Department of Homeland 13 

Security, but the principal duties of the federal 14 

government have been to provide federal funding and to 15 

ensure that the central data exchange owned and 16 

operated by the states functions effectively. 17 

  The exchange of information about 18 

commercial drivers among the states is known by its 19 

acronym CDLIS.  Operating for nearly 20 years, CDLIS 20 

has never once experienced a data loss or had its 21 

security compromised.  A large part of that security 22 

success lies in the design of CDLIS, which is a 23 

pointer system that substantially confirms data and 24 

severely limits query capability.  CDLIS is an 25 
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excellent example of how the states can work together 1 

to protect the public safety.  And it has very, very 2 

strong participant support and it has been for 20 3 

years.  Law enforcement officers have a high degree of 4 

certainty that when a person presents a commercial 5 

driver's license as proof of identity, that person is 6 

exactly who he or she claims to be. 7 

  As I've explained at the earlier 8 

hearings, it's critical that the states step up and 9 

accept their responsibility to substantially improve 10 

the identity systems they operate for their state 11 

residents.  The dramatic changes in world economics 12 

and modes of transportation have led us to the point 13 

where our former physical isolation is no longer a 14 

factor. 15 

  And I recognize that many Americans 16 

today, and certainly many in this room, have perhaps 17 

fallen victims to urban myths and conspiracy theories 18 

and they don't believe they or their families are at 19 

risk from foreign terrorists.  It's probably 20 

understandable that Americans now discount the threat 21 

because they live far from Washington and New York, 22 

where the largest impact of 9/11 took place.   But I'm 23 

surprised that would be the case here. 24 

  On my way to this hearing by car I 25 
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detoured from the most direct route because I wanted 1 

to visit the Flight 93 National Memorial.  I was 2 

deeply moved by the temporary memorial that protects 3 

the site of the crash of the United Airlines that was 4 

brought down by foreign terrorists. 5 

  Of the four aircraft hijacked on 6 

September 11th, Flight 93 is the only one that did not 7 

reach its intended target.  There is evidence that the 8 

foreign terrorists intended the plane to crash into 9 

the United States Capitol in Washington, D.C.  As 10 

vividly presented by a semi-documentary movie, the 11 

passengers had learned about the attacks on the World 12 

Trade Center through their cellular telephone calls 13 

from family.  It's believed that two flight attendants 14 

and six passengers fought the hijackers and thereby 15 

potentially prevented the death of thousands.  The 16 

bravery of the passengers and the crew almost 17 

certainly brought about the plane crashing into the 18 

Pennsylvania field shortly after 10:00 a.m., killing 19 

all on board. 20 

  As today's testimony will likely be the 21 

last that I'll have the opportunity to present to the 22 

Intergovernmental Affairs Committee, I want to tell 23 

you that we should not forget the example set by the 24 

heroes of Flight 93.  Foreign terrorists will strike 25 
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again if we do not maintain our vigilance and 1 

forcefully oppose them.   2 

  The threat from foreign terrorists has 3 

not, in fact, diminished.  In fact, evidence collected 4 

by foreign governments as well as most exports who are 5 

not part of our federal government is that the threat 6 

has increased.  There is considerable evidence that 7 

the current war in Iraq is being used as a training 8 

ground for the use of improvised explosive devices and 9 

terrorist recruiting techniques by Al Qaida and other 10 

Islamic terrorist groups.  While mainstream Muslims in 11 

this country and across the world are critical of 12 

these extremists, their rejection of terrorism does 13 

not change the empirical evidence that the number of 14 

foreign terrorists has grown, as well as their 15 

determination to inflict more destruction on our 16 

country. 17 

  There have been missteps by our federal 18 

government, no doubt, in working with the states on 19 

Real ID.  And there is a continued lack of federal 20 

funding to support state efforts to improve driver 21 

license security.  At the same time, the vast majority 22 

of the American people continue to support higher 23 

standards of driver license identification 24 

requirements.  They do so because, in fact, the safety 25 
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and security of 300 million Americans will and must 1 

prevail. 2 

  Now, I want to talk about the particular 3 

problem caused by issuing full-term driver licenses to 4 

foreign visitors.  The problem that we see at CSDL in 5 

state after state; however some states have, in fact, 6 

addressed this.  The problem that often derives from 7 

issuing full-term driver's licenses to non-immigrants 8 

with one- or two-year visas is generically described 9 

as quote, visa overstays. 10 

  At present thousands of foreign visitors 11 

obtain driver licenses while lawfully present, then 12 

overstay the terms of their visa and use the four-, 13 

five- to eight-year period that a driver's license 14 

issuance as valid ID for work purposes.  They can do 15 

so because under federal law, a driver's license or 16 

state issued ID card is sufficient evidence of lawful 17 

presence, together with a valid Social Security 18 

number, or an employer completed W-9 federal 19 

employment form.  Since the foreign worker received a 20 

Social Security number and driver's license while he 21 

was lawfully present, he can stay and work illegally, 22 

because his identity documents do not reflect the 23 

terms of his visa.   24 

  In the case of the 9/11 terrorists, 25 
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several had overstayed their visa terms, but were 1 

still able to obtain driver licenses.  It is because 2 

of this current loophole exploited by the 9/11 3 

terrorists that the Real ID Act regulations stipulate 4 

that states must require proof of lawful presence.  We 5 

at CSDL urge the states to restrict driver's license 6 

terms to the term on the visa and to refuse driver 7 

license applicants who are foreign visitors without 8 

valid visas. 9 

  The United States is a signatory to the 10 

1949 Geneva Convention on Road Traffic, under which 11 

citizens of more than 100 countries can drive in the 12 

United States for one year using the driver license of 13 

their native country.  The United States is also a 14 

signatory to the Inter-American Convention on the 15 

Regulations of Inter-American Automotive Traffic, 16 

which allows driver license holders from Mexico and 17 

eight Latin American countries to freely drive about 18 

the United States without obtaining a license from one 19 

of our own states for up to one year.  Together these 20 

agreements eliminate the need for a state to issue a 21 

driver's license to a short-term foreign visitor. 22 

  So given that there is little need to do 23 

so, why do states issue driver licenses to foreign 24 

visitors?  It's economics.  States have seen such 25 
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policies as facilitating tourism and business travel. 1 

And frankly, until the past 20 years there was fairly 2 

vigorous enforcement of immigration laws by the 3 

federal government that were largely reinforced by 4 

state governments.  That enforcement limited the risk 5 

of illegal aliens exploiting the state driver license 6 

system.  Also over the past 20 years, a series of 7 

court decisions, combined with massive legal 8 

immigration have compelled many states to offer driver 9 

license applications and proficiency tests in multiple 10 

languages, so there's no longer a language barrier for 11 

foreign visitors to overcome to obtain a driver 12 

license in the United States.  And, of course, there's 13 

pressure on state officials from unscrupulous 14 

employers who see an opportunity to reduce their wage 15 

costs by hiring illegal aliens as workers, provided 16 

those same workers can get identity documents such as 17 

driver licenses. 18 

  Each year millions of foreign nationals 19 

are admitted into the United States.  Those who are 20 

admitted temporarily and for a specific purpose are 21 

referred to as non-immigrants.  Most non-immigrants 22 

enter as tourists or business travelers on short-term 23 

trips while others such as students, temporary workers 24 

and foreign diplomats stay for longer periods of time, 25 
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ranging from a few months to several years.   1 

  Let me offer you some hard numbers, so 2 

you can see why states should stop issuing driver 3 

licenses to non-immigrants here on short term visas.  4 

Excluding Canadian and most Mexican visitors, when a 5 

foreign visitor legally enters the United States he or 6 

she is issued an I-94 form that is proof of legal 7 

entry.  The visitor is required to hold onto that I-94 8 

until leaving the United States.  9 

  At present Canadians and roughly eight 10 

million Mexican citizens who have obtained B1/B2 11 

border crossing cards are not issued I-94 forms.  12 

Noting that exclusion, in 2006, approximately 34 13 

million foreign visitors were issued I-94 forms.  14 

According to the Department of Homeland Security, the 15 

majority of these 34 million visitors, roughly 90 16 

percent were here for short-term visits with three-17 

fourths here as tourists and about 15 percent here on 18 

business trips.  According to DHS, one half of all 19 

arrivals were by citizens of just four countries, 20 

Mexico, the United Kingdom, Japan and Germany.  Over 21 

half of all non-immigrants reported California, 22 

Florida, New York or Texas as their state of 23 

destination. 24 

  So who makes up the ten percent of 25 
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foreign visitors that are not here for short term 1 

visits?  In 2006 there was 1.7 million temporary 2 

workers.  That's correct.  The United States brings in 3 

nearly two million guest workers every year, many of 4 

them on visas of two years or more.  Only 180,000 of 5 

the temporary workers enter as seasonal workers.   6 

  The other large components of the 2006 7 

foreign visitors were foreign students and their 8 

families, which made up about 1.2 million non-9 

immigrant foreign visitors in 2006.  In total, in 10 

2006, there were about three million foreign visitors 11 

for which a case can be made that states might issue 12 

driver licenses, providing they can pass driving 13 

proficiency tests. 14 

  And by the way, about half of these 15 

foreign visitors have applied for and obtained Social 16 

Security numbers in order to work while they are here 17 

in the United States.  Consequently, unless states 18 

also use the federal SAVE information system to verify 19 

immigration status, there is a considerable risk that 20 

a state will issue driver licenses and ID cards to 21 

illegal aliens who had been lawfully present in the 22 

United States at an earlier time and had obtained a 23 

Social Security number at that time. 24 

  The fact is well-known to most Americans. 25 
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Because there is little or no internal enforcement of 1 

federal immigration laws, it's relatively easy for a 2 

foreign visitor to remain illegally in the United 3 

States indefinitely provided that he has two things, a 4 

Social Security number and a driver's license.  Unless 5 

a state verifies that a valid Social Security number 6 

was issued to the person standing at the counter and 7 

also verifies that a person has immigrant status or a 8 

valid visa, that state is likely to become a haven for 9 

illegal aliens. 10 

  In conclusion, weak driver license 11 

procedures were a contributing factor to the terrorist 12 

attacks on September 11th, 2001, an observation noted 13 

by bipartisan and highly respected 9/11 Commission.  14 

Weak procedures for document verification and 15 

indifference to requiring proof of lawful presence 16 

encourage illegal visa overstays and facilitate 17 

employer violation of labor laws that protect American 18 

workers.  Criminals will continue to attack any 19 

vulnerability in state identity document processes, 20 

and existing loose practices contribute to identity 21 

theft and multiple forms of fraud.  Until there is a 22 

disciplined and consistent approach by both state and 23 

federal governments to provide reliable identity 24 

documents to our lawful citizens and legal immigrants, 25 
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the United States will remain at substantial risk from 1 

foreign and domestic terrorists, from unfriendly 2 

foreign governments and from both organized crime and 3 

the identity thief next door.   4 

  Thank you very much, sir.  It has been a 5 

privilege to be able to state a number of times.  And 6 

I'm greatly respectful that I may well be a minority 7 

of one perhaps, and I greatly appreciate the 8 

opportunity to participate before the Commonwealth. 9 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 10 

  Thank you.  In the interest of time we're 11 

going to go with our last presenter and then we will 12 

open questions from colleagues and the audience. 13 

  MR. HOOVER: 14 

  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of 15 

the committee and other representatives from the Erie 16 

delegation.  My name is Andy Hoover.  I am a community 17 

organizer and legislative assistant for the American 18 

Civil Liberties Union of Pennsylvania. 19 

  Thank you for the opportunity to testify 20 

today about the federal Real ID Act.  I am here today 21 

on behalf of the 19,000 members of the ACLU of 22 

Pennsylvania.  Founded in 1920 the ACLU is one of 23 

America's oldest civil rights organizations.  Today 24 

our nationwide membership is approximately a half a 25 
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million people, a number that has doubled since 2001. 1 

  By holding this series of five hearings 2 

on Real ID, the committee has done the people's work. 3 

You have encouraged a statewide conversation about 4 

this intrusive federal law and how Pennsylvania should 5 

react to it.  For that the committee and its staff 6 

should be commended. 7 

  The Real ID Act is an unprecedented 8 

invasion of the privacy of all Americans and provides 9 

numerous constitutional entanglements.  The ACLU 10 

vigorously opposed the legislation when it was 11 

proposed and continues to oppose as the states decide 12 

whether or not to implement it.  It is our position 13 

that the state should opt out participating in the 14 

Real ID and that Congress should repeal it.  15 

Pennsylvania has the opportunity to opt out of 16 

participation in the program by passing House Bill 17 

1351 or Senate Bill 1220.   18 

  The Real ID Act essentially turns our 19 

state driver's licenses into a national identification 20 

card.  Our licenses will still have the seal and name 21 

of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, but Real ID's 22 

federal mandate, disempowers the states in controlling 23 

their own departments of motor vehicles. By mandating 24 

the linking of the states’ DMV database to each other, 25 
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Real ID creates a new nationwide database, which is an 1 

unprecedented quantity of information available in one 2 

place.   3 

  Proponents of Real ID plan assumes the 4 

states will continue to maintain their own databases, 5 

but there will not be a single interlinked database 6 

for that information, but this reflects a 7 

misunderstanding of how databases work.  A group of 8 

seven databases that are linked to one another by a 9 

query system is exactly the same as one giant 10 

database.  Think of how Google works.  Googles queries 11 

multiple servers for bits of information and returns 12 

them to a central site.  It does not maintain its own 13 

server with all the information available on the 14 

internet.  It doesn't have to.  The Real ID database 15 

would work the same way, allowing any DMV employee, 16 

federal official or identity thief to pull up 17 

information on a Pennsylvania driver in Alabama, 18 

California or New York, even though that information 19 

is technically housed in Pennsylvania.  Fifty (50) 20 

interlinked databases are functionally equivalent to 21 

one giant database. 22 

  The information stored in this database 23 

also raises potential of privacy brought on by Real 24 

ID.  The law requires verification by identification 25 
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through numerous means, including a birth certificate, 1 

Social Security card, utility bill and another form of 2 

photo identification.  In addition, DMVs must store 3 

that information on site.  This makes the entire 4 

nation's license holders’ vulnerable to identity 5 

theft. 6 

  We know that DMVs around the country have 7 

been breached.  In fact, we've heard that earlier 8 

today this morning.  And in fact, it happened here in 9 

Pennsylvania in 2006.  In November 2006, the Wilkes-10 

Barre driver's license center was burglarized and two 11 

computers used to issue driver's licenses were stolen. 12 

The thieves also took equipment and supplies that 13 

could be use to make fraudulent driver's licenses and 14 

identification cards.   15 

  During the investigation PennDOT 16 

discovered the computers contained personal 17 

information of 11,384 customers who had their photos 18 

taken for a driver's license or identification card 19 

between August 30th, 2006 and November 28th of that 20 

year.   The information stored on the computers 21 

included names, addresses, dates of birth, driver's 22 

license numbers and the last four digits of Social 23 

Security numbers.  In the cases of 5,348 of those 24 

customers, the personal information included the 25 
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complete Social Security numbers.  The investigation 1 

also revealed that backup tapes were being stored in 2 

an unsecured location.  Under Real ID, the potential 3 

for having more people having this information, 4 

vulnerable to identity theft, increases. 5 

  Proponents of Real ID claimed that the 6 

federal government already has plenty of information 7 

about the nation's drivers in the commercial driver's 8 

license information system and the problem driver 9 

point system.  But these data bases are only for 10 

commercial drivers and those with points or 11 

outstanding tickets.  If there's an overlap there are 12 

approximately 55 million drivers combined in these two 13 

data bases.  That is only a fraction of the number of 14 

drivers whose personal information will be contained 15 

in the new national database under Real ID. 16 

  Security exports do not believe that Real 17 

ID will make our licenses more secure and fraud less 18 

likely.  Privacy Rights Clearinghouse, the nation's 19 

leading group on identity theft, said in a February of 20 

2007 statement that Real ID will not only make current 21 

methods of identity theft easier for criminals, but 22 

will also create new opportunities for ID thieves to 23 

commit their crime, close quote. 24 

  Renowned cryptographer and security 25 
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expert Bruce Schneier has said, quote, there are 1 

security benefits in having a variety of different ID 2 

documents.  A single national ID is an exceedingly 3 

valuable document, and accordingly, there's greater 4 

incentive to forge it.  When someone asks me to rate 5 

the security of a national ID card on a scale of one 6 

to ten, I can't give an answer.  It doesn't even 7 

belong on a scale, unquote.  The Department of 8 

Homeland Security's own Data Privacy and Integrity 9 

Committee refused to endorse the Department's 10 

regulations for implementation of the Real ID Act. 11 

  The information contained on the license 12 

itself will also be vulnerable to attack.  Under Real 13 

ID, our licenses will contain a machine readable zone. 14 

Despite input from many organizations, including the 15 

ACLU, DHS did not require in its final regulations 16 

released earlier this year that the information on the 17 

machine readable zone be encrypted.  This means that 18 

the information on the license can be exploited for a 19 

variety of purposes, and there is legitimate concern 20 

that the private sector will create a parallel 21 

database for commercial use by accessing the data on 22 

Real ID-compliant licenses. 23 

  In fact, we know that private businesses 24 

like bars and clubs already capture customers' 25 
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personal information from their licenses.  Last year 1 

the Patriot News of Harrisburg published a cover story 2 

on this issue.  It's article is attached to my 3 

testimony. The article described how a company that 4 

owns 12 bars and clubs in the mid state accesses and 5 

exploits customer data.  With the purchase of simple 6 

scanner the company obtains all the information 7 

currently on the licenses of its customers.   8 

  In the article the bar owner said, quote, 9 

for us, it is key. You capture names in a database for 10 

direct mailing.  It's amazing the amount of 11 

information.  We can break it down a million different 12 

ways, unquote.  One can only imagine how private 13 

businesses will further exploit the data available to 14 

them under Real ID. 15 

  In a follow-up editorial published on 16 

February 28th, 2007, The Patriot News responded, 17 

quote, permitting anyone outside the law enforcement 18 

system to collect and parse this data raises 19 

significant privacy concerns.  Beyond its use strictly 20 

for identification purposes, the law should prohibit 21 

anyone from storing the information on the magnetic 22 

strip for any reason, unquote.  Under Real ID there is 23 

nothing to prevent this kind of exploitation.  And as 24 

I said, both the article and the editorial are 25 
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attached to my testimony. 1 

  Real ID raises numerous constitutional 2 

concerns.  For example, the photo requirement puts 3 

people of numerous faiths in an awkward position.  4 

People of the Amish faith who object to having their 5 

picture taken and Sikhs and Muslin women who wear head 6 

coverings will be forced to make the unenviable 7 

decision between upholding their religious tenets or 8 

obtaining a Real ID-compliant card in order to access 9 

federal buildings and participate in other federal 10 

business.  At risk in this choice are basic rights of 11 

freedom of religious expression and the rights of due 12 

process and equal protection.  In its final 13 

regulations, DHS ignored this problem. 14 

  The states have been rebelling against 15 

Real ID as we've heard already this morning.  In 16 

April, Idaho became the latest state to opt out of 17 

participation in the program.  Even since this 18 

committee's last hearing in Scranton two weeks ago, 19 

there has been news of states pushing back against 20 

Real ID.  Under threat of gubernatorial veto, last 21 

week the Minnesota state legislature passed an opt-out 22 

bill in both chambers with veto-proof majorities.  23 

Although Governor Tim Pawlenty did veto the 24 

legislation on Friday, he compromised by signing an 25 
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executive order that allows the implementation of Real 1 

ID in Minnesota only after approval from the 2 

legislature.  Minnesota's move is further indication 3 

of the rebellion by the states against Real ID. 4 

  In other news from earlier this week, 5 

I've got a notation here, the Association of Corporate 6 

Travel Executives, for the first time in its history 7 

gave its president’s award, it’s highest award, to an 8 

elected official.  It's not unusual for associations 9 

to give awards to elected officials, but this is the 10 

first time in the 20-year history of this organization 11 

to do so.  And they gave it to Senator Akaka from 12 

Hawaii for his stance on Real ID and for his primary 13 

sponsorship of Senate Bill 717, which would repeal 14 

Real ID. 15 

  Throughout the debate over Real ID, 16 

including in recent weeks, proponents of the law have 17 

claimed that Real ID is a recommendation of the 9/11 18 

Commission.  This is false.  The 9/11 Commission spoke 19 

to the issue of fraudulent identification documents, 20 

but did not specifically recommend the program laid 21 

out in Real ID.  In fact, when Congress passed the 22 

Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 23 

2004 in response to the 9/11 Commission's 24 

recommendations, it included a negotiated rulemaking 25 
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process for increased security in drivers' licenses.  1 

This process would have allowed the federal 2 

government, the states, privacy advocates and the 3 

public an opportunity to participate in creating 4 

standards that would balance both security and 5 

privacy.  This work was underway when it was abruptly 6 

halted by the passage of Real ID in May of 2005, a 7 

vote that occurred without hearings and without debate 8 

on the floor of the U.S. House or Senate. 9 

  At the committee's hearing in Scranton on 10 

May 8th, committee members emphasized the need to 11 

address the problems with Real ID with the 12 

Commonwealth's Congressional delegation.  The ACLU 13 

agrees and supports the repeal of Real ID by Congress. 14 

We also believe that when the states opt out of Real 15 

ID, it sends a clear message to our Congressional 16 

delegation that this program is unacceptable.  Real ID 17 

is a massive invasion of the privacy of all Americans 18 

and presents serious constitutional questions.   19 

  In addition, testimony at these hearing 20 

by PennDOT and the National Conference of State 21 

Legislatures has made it clear that the states can 22 

address security flaws in licensing without Real ID.  23 

The Pennsylvania General Assembly will best serve the 24 

interests of the people of this Commonwealth by 25 
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passing House Bill 1351 and blocking the state's 1 

participation in Real ID.  House Bill 1351 currently 2 

has 90 co-sponsors. 3 

  The information I have presented this 4 

morning only begins to scratch the surface on this 5 

issue.  More information is available at the web site 6 

realnightmare.org.  In addition, the ACLU of 7 

Pennsylvania has testified at three of the five 8 

hearings this committee has held and that testimony is 9 

available on the legislation page of our web site, 10 

aclupa.org. 11 

  Chairman Thomas, thank you for the 12 

opportunity to testify today.  Thank you for taking 13 

the time and effort to hold these hearings.  And I’ll 14 

answer your questions. 15 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 16 

  Okay.  Representative Hornaman? 17 

  REPRESENTATIVE HORNAMAN: 18 

  I guess I don't have a question at this 19 

point.  I do have a comment.  From what I’ve seen here 20 

today and heard, while I certainly realize the need 21 

for additional security in this day and age following 22 

9/11 and the war on terror, I'm not convinced at this 23 

point that Real ID is anything more than a feel-good 24 

intended for the American people, and that's to try to 25 
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make Americans feel more secure while instituting what 1 

was said earlier, just another unfunded mandate.  So I 2 

will continue to opposed the Real ID program. 3 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 4 

  Representative Fabrizio? 5 

  REPRESENTATIVE FABRIZIO: 6 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  First of all 7 

I’d like to thank Mr. Meadows, Mr. Berro and Mr. 8 

Hoover for their testimony.  And particularly, Mr. 9 

Berro seemed to be in, you know, unfriendly waters 10 

here.  But I want to commend Mr. Berro for the efforts 11 

and the work that he's done.  I just have some 12 

concerns. 13 

  In your testimony I thought there was a 14 

rather poignant section here where you said, you know, 15 

this is a major weakness of our state driver licensing 16 

system.  And I think you were pretty much on target 17 

with that.  And that's what I'm going to with this 18 

point.  There have to be alternative ways.  There has 19 

to be either the negotiation process or through 20 

alternative legislation to provide for correcting 21 

these kinds of situations as opposed to the draconian 22 

Real ID method. 23 

  I really believe there has to be another 24 

way of doing this and doing it effectively, because 25 
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we're turning the whole thing topsy-turvy and 1 

affecting hundreds of millions of people over --- you 2 

know, I believe in this case we're treating the 3 

symptoms and not the cause.  And I truly believe there 4 

has to be an alternative method of approaching this.  5 

And in all reality and in my heart I don't believe 6 

that the ID program will work to meet your objectives. 7 

I really don't.  And for that reason, obviously, for 8 

my prior statements, you know, and my having co-signed 9 

on Bill 1351, I'm certainly not going to ---. 10 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 11 

  Thank you, Representative Fabrizio.  12 

Representative Sonney? 13 

  REPRESENTATIVE SONNEY: 14 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I guess I can’t 15 

add on to what was pretty well said by the other 16 

representatives.  I absolutely agree with 17 

Representative Fabrizio that there are definitely 18 

issues that need to be addressed and that the states 19 

absolutely have the ability to be able to address 20 

those issues and to secure our state driver's licenses 21 

in a better manner, without necessarily joining in 22 

with a complete federal program. 23 

  You know, I can understand the reason 24 

behind the Real ID Act.  Quite frankly, I am a little 25 
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bit skeptical when we say that it’s going to open the 1 

door for fraud.  Absolutely, you know, any time our 2 

information is out there anywhere we're open for 3 

fraud.  But quite frankly, our information is out 4 

there everywhere right now.  Everywhere.  Every 5 

doctor's office, hospital, credit union, companies, 6 

banks, savings and loans, you name it, they’ve got it. 7 

And they've always had it.  And you know, security of 8 

our information is going to continue to be an issue.  9 

And no matter what we do as far as making our 10 

Pennsylvania driver's license more secure, you know, I 11 

think we can all agree that obviously it’s not a one-12 

time change or one-time fix, and we can move on.   13 

  Even with our American currency, as we 14 

see we have to continually change that currency now to 15 

keep that from being counterfeited.  And it's really 16 

going to be a situation, I think, where we’re going to 17 

have to implement some type of legislation that will 18 

continue to revisit and reinvent the driver's licenses 19 

as we go.   20 

  Absolutely, we need to have a secure type 21 

of document, I believe.  That's the only way we're 22 

ever going to get a handle on any type of illegal 23 

aliens or illegal immigrants that are in this country. 24 

And I think we can all agree that we need to get a 25 
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handle on that and really be able to know who these 1 

people are and whether or not they should be here or 2 

not.  So with that being said, I have to believe that 3 

I will be supporting 1351.  Thank you. 4 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 5 

  Representative Harkins. 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE HARKINS: 7 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Just a 8 

statement.  This seems like it's overkill in an 9 

expensive reaction to some bad apples as was stated 10 

earlier. When we take or make drastic steps to correct 11 

something that may only need to be tweaked, as I think 12 

somebody else said earlier, referring to a state 13 

driver's license, whether it's PA or any other states. 14 

  I know after 9/11 everybody had a lot of 15 

good intentions.  Everybody wanted to rush out and do 16 

things.  Now, after we take a step back and we look 17 

and see some of the things that we've done, many of us 18 

think, well, best intentions were laid out.  They 19 

proved to be very expensive and didn't prove to be 20 

what we thought it would be.  So therefore, I'm proud 21 

to be a co-sponsor on 1351 and I will uphold it. 22 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 23 

  I'd like to save our co-chair for last.  24 

So at this time we would turn to Representative Roae. 25 
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  REPRESENTATIVE ROAE: 1 

  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I myself, I'm 2 

actually a co-sponsor to House Bill 1351 as well.  I 3 

think what it kind of comes down to ---. 4 

  I appreciate the people offering 5 

testimony today, but I haven't really heard anything 6 

that makes me change my mind.  And I'm always, you 7 

know, pretty hesitant when it looks like the federal 8 

government is trying to run over individual rights and 9 

states’ rights.  Again, you hear all the time about 10 

the federal government, you know, computers getting 11 

broken into, you know, that nuclear lab where they 12 

lost a hard drive, there's a lot of, you know, top 13 

secret stuff on it.  The Defense Department, they lost 14 

some information.  Just because the federal government 15 

is going to be in charge of something sometimes makes 16 

it worse, not better. 17 

  And I think it still comes down to, you 18 

know, people that come to this country illegally ---19 

the federal government is doing nothing to secure the 20 

border.  The federal government is doing nothing.  21 

They'll come here.  And even if this passed, they 22 

would still do nothing.  They're not going to track 23 

down people who stay longer than they're supposed to. 24 

They're not going to --- I mean, this --- what their 25 
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proposing with Real ID is just a big unfunded mandate 1 

that in my opinion wouldn't do any good.  Thank you. 2 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 3 

  Thank you. 4 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 5 

  All right.  Madam Chairlady? 6 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 7 

  I would like to thank all of the 8 

testifiers.  One thing we were trying to do in this 9 

committee is to have a broad base of information and 10 

presenting both sides of the issue.  And Mr. Berro, I 11 

would like to thank you for participating, because I'm 12 

sure that being in the minority is challenging. 13 

  But that is the one thing I think the 14 

government needs to do seek to do is look at 15 

information and base their decisions on that 16 

information.  And to separate what is presumed and 17 

what is the facts.  And I think this committee has 18 

tried to do that in all of the hearings, and also give 19 

people a voice about why they're concerned about the 20 

Real ID Act.  Well, certainly we can't operate on 21 

fear.  We have to operate on facts and coming up with 22 

good solutions that really do what is said to be done. 23 

  And I do have a question for Mr. Berro.  24 

One is you've made a great point as far as perception 25 
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in looking back at some of the problems that  1 

concern --- that have arisen because of decisions 2 

made.  But can you explain the difference between 3 

CDLIS and the veterans’ database?  Because I think 4 

this is what happens, is that people look at this 5 

information.  It's going to be out there.  And there 6 

is going to be additional information that may be on 7 

this database that isn't readily available for people. 8 

And they look at what happened with the veterans' 9 

records and different things like that and that's 10 

where their concerns come from.  So explain --- could 11 

you explain just the difference then.  I'm not saying 12 

the right or wrong. 13 

  MR. BERRO: 14 

  No, I know. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 16 

  I'm just saying that this is where some 17 

of the concerns ---. 18 

  MR. BERRO: 19 

  I understand that.  The source of our 20 

information was the clearinghouse for the motor 21 

vehicle industry.  And that system has been in effect, 22 

I believe, since 1986.  And as noted in my testimony, 23 

it really is regarded as taking an industry that had a 24 

lower level of integrity over the last 20 years and 25 
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cleaning it up substantially.  And we all recognize 1 

that the vehicles in commercial trucking had some very 2 

serious issues. 3 

  So when we've referenced with working 4 

with MFA (phonetic) in regard to our analysis, and MFA 5 

working in NCSL and took the lead working with the 6 

Governors’ Association, they pointed out to us that 7 

this six point or pointer system of CDLIS had been the 8 

basis for its identification standard.  And by and 9 

large, that is really what Real ID identification 10 

calls for, a similar pointer system not unlike CDLIS 11 

in terms of, you know, who you are, to document that 12 

to avoid fraud.  As to the other element, I have to 13 

say I'm not familiar with any specifics other than 14 

what I held and that you observed. 15 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 16 

  Thank you very much.  And do you believe 17 

that Pennsylvania only offers a driver's license as 18 

long as the visa is good; is that correct? 19 

  MR. BERRO: 20 

  Yes.  And by the way, that is the 21 

standard.  We are going state to state to state.  It's 22 

such a paradox that a perfectly legitimate H1-H2 visa 23 

holder invited in as a foreign worker, working, say, 24 

for a major American corporation gets a two-year visa. 25 
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Why are they being issued full-term driver licenses in 1 

some states going out for years?  And when you 2 

consider that the terms of the illegal alien 3 

circumstances in the United States, 40 percent of 4 

illegal aliens start out entering the country 5 

lawfully.  Therefore, that matter is of some 6 

substance. 7 

  But if I could address it, relevant to 8 

our Real ID and my organization, the issue is 9 

standardizing the response. Pennsylvania may only 10 

issue a license to a visa holder for the term of their 11 

visa, but what if Maryland does not and what if 12 

Indiana does not?  We are subject to this issue and 13 

that is the heart of Real ID, coming up with a minimum 14 

floor.  And by the way, although I could speak 15 

definitively to it, there are aspects of safe issuance 16 

right now around the country that are in excess of 17 

Real ID. 18 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 19 

  And that bears on my next comment.  20 

Standard piece of legislation or uniformity might go a 21 

long way in trying to address some of the concerns.  22 

You know, I'm not sure that people like to go on the 23 

presumption of what may happen and guesswork where a 24 

federal law allows each state to adopt a different 25 
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standard.  And you know, in Pennsylvania we may adopt 1 

a minimum standard, but yet across the country --- you 2 

know, there's not uniformity. 3 

  MR. BERRO: 4 

  That's a point.  But again, in fairness 5 

to the facts, Real ID, when it is in its formative 6 

stages in terms of what the legislature will look like 7 

in specifics, the first thing they look at was that 8 

the variances between stricter issuing states and the 9 

most lax states was enormous.  And I've cited the 10 

example and it bears repeating.  Obviously if PennDOT 11 

people were here, PennDOT could reference the details 12 

of all their identification standards.  But to have a 13 

state which will accept a five-year old utility bill 14 

as proof of identification versus the neighboring 15 

state that calls for, say, a verifiable Social 16 

Security number, that's quite considerable.  So that's 17 

why the minimum standards at least gets it on a level 18 

playing field. 19 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 20 

  Thank you very much.  Again, I want to 21 

thank the testifiers and everyone that attended today. 22 

We again, and I think it's our job to seek information 23 

when we make these decisions. 24 

  We live in a great country.  There's no 25 
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other place that I would rather than live than in the 1 

United States of America.  We are blessed every day in 2 

this country.  But I think that the first step in 3 

protecting our residents is securing the borders.   4 

  And I don't see that passing a piece of 5 

legislation like this and not running it in tandem 6 

with other security measures, I'm not sure it's going 7 

to be a successful nature that is what's meant to 8 

happen. 9 

  Again, you know, we're very blessed.  I 10 

don’t think any of us in this panel ever thought that 11 

we would ever see anything like 9/11.  And we really 12 

have to balance striking the balance of keeping our 13 

residents safe, but not infringing in our way of life 14 

and in our rights, so that we can continue to be the 15 

great country that we are today.   16 

  Representative Sam Rohrer, who is a 17 

sponsor of House Rule 1351, in his piece of 18 

legislation he also, I believe, deals with data and 19 

different things like that, which I think is a growing 20 

concern.  And it’s not the minimum standards.  But 21 

that piece of legislation deals with some of those 22 

concerns that I myself have.  I do support House Bill 23 

1351.  I think there's a lot of work that needs to be 24 

done and I think that again we need to strike a 25 
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balance of keeping our residents safe, but not 1 

changing the way of life this country was built on.  2 

Thank you. 3 

  MR. BERRO: 4 

  This is a good time --- when the 5 

Representative and I dialogued on that he --- we 6 

discussed what some of the findings were with 7 

respected DMVs that I have visited.  And there is a 8 

lot of variability.  One of the key components where 9 

states are going or where we're choosing not to go and 10 

that’s in the realm of facial recognition technology.  11 

  In Florida, for example, now currently 12 

one of the strictest states in terms of identification 13 

standards on the east coast, they do not employ facial 14 

recognition.  Now, in North Carolina, which as I 15 

indicated in the example I cited had frankly a 16 

horrific reputation for lax identification standards, 17 

in the last several years has greatly tightened their 18 

procedures.  And accordingly they have opted to employ 19 

facial recognition technology.  The fact is, as best I 20 

could determine, it appears that they are very much 21 

still in a early generation of the employment of that 22 

technology and understanding it.   23 

  REPRESENTATIVE BROOKS: 24 

  Thank you. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 1 

  Thank you.  I have one question for 2 

anyone on the panel.  And that is, aren’t there 3 

minimum standards established under the National 4 

Intelligence Reform Act of 2004, for identification? 5 

  MR. MEADOWS: 6 

  That legislation was repealed or set 7 

aside. 8 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 9 

  Right.  Real ID is the successor --- 10 

  MR. MEADOWS: 11 

  Yes. 12 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 13 

  --- to the National Intelligence Reform 14 

Act of 2004.  And so my question is, is what are some 15 

standards, minimum standards established in that law? 16 

And the second question would be, how the states went 17 

about the business of complying with those standards? 18 

  MR. MEADOWS: 19 

  Thank you, Representative.  The 20 

Intelligence Reform Act of 2004 did not set the same 21 

minimum standards as you find in Real ID.  It did set 22 

up --- it suggested minimum standards and then created 23 

the negotiating rulemaking process to determine 24 

exactly what the standards should be.  But that 25 
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process was cancelled and that particular provision of 1 

the Intelligence Reform Act of 2004 was repealed by 2 

Real ID.  So while the process was created and there 3 

was an intention to create minimum standards by that 4 

2004 Act, it was stopped and repealed by Real ID. 5 

  And if I could take this opportunity to 6 

make some comments about CDLIS.  The Department of 7 

Transportation has told NCSL and Senator Akaka's staff 8 

that while CDLIS is a pointer system and while it  9 

does --- it has not been briefed and it has not had 10 

any security issues for the 20 years that it's been in 11 

operation, in order to function as a pointer system it 12 

does maintain certain data elements at the hub, which 13 

is operated by AMCO (phonetic).  So there are some 14 

ongoing concerns that Senator Akaka has about what a 15 

broader use of that platform might be in moving toward 16 

a Real ID hub.  And of course, participation in CDLIS 17 

is voluntary, since you are voluntarily joining the 18 

profession of being a commercial driver, as opposed to 19 

what's envisioned by Real ID.  So I just wanted to 20 

make those quick distinctions between the two systems. 21 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 22 

  Okay.  We want to come back to Erie.  We 23 

want to be welcomed in Erie, so we don't want to 24 

overstay our time today.  We have a few minutes.  So 25 
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please tailor your questions and/or comments to Real 1 

ID.  One, two, three. 2 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 3 

  Yes.  I'm asking for less than two 4 

minutes’ time.  The gentlemen on the panel had 5 

extensive time to testify.  This is pertaining to Real 6 

ID.  First, the technology used in Real ID is 7 

biometrics and RIT ID chips, sort of a GPS tracking 8 

system. 9 

  MR. MEADOWS: 10 

  That's not true. 11 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 12 

  No, it is true, like you would have in 13 

your laptop or your car.  Now --- 14 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 15 

  It could be read. 16 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 17 

  --- the Real ID Act was passed under the 18 

noses of the American people on May 10th, 2005.  It 19 

was touted as a good idea as promoted.  Like Mr. Berro 20 

I'll say, well, you know, it will curb identity theft. 21 

It's a tool for controlling illegal immigrants or for 22 

counterterrorist measures.  It's by this sort RIT 23 

technology made this more than an actual ID card.  It 24 

serves as a capability to be used as a tracking 25 
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device, just like the property profiling practices 1 

like lawyers do pulling credit reports and requiring 2 

to disclose Social Security numbers.  The Real ID can 3 

delve far much deeper into our personal lives than 4 

just our credit reports as to where we live, our 5 

financial status, whether or not we have medical 6 

problems.  It makes it completely transparent.  I 7 

don't feel comfortable with that.   8 

  With biometrics and RIT ID technology, 9 

corporations and private contractors working with 10 

government to produce and monitor these ID cards could 11 

invade our privacy to --- into a deeper rat hole than 12 

you can ever imagine.  And the fact that it would be 13 

used to restrict the movement of populations is very 14 

scary.  Let me speak on that a minute.  Throughout 15 

history fascist dictatorships and communist 16 

suppressive regimes, Hitler's Nazi Germany and 17 

Stalinist Russia, two things were used to enable these 18 

regimes to enact grievous human rights violations. One 19 

was the control of the movement of the people; two was 20 

disarming the public. 21 

  Now, this is where Real ID is a big 22 

problem.  It's --- looking at it in context of the 23 

bigger picture, if we look at --- if we look at it in 24 

those terms of the Nazi success, which by the way  was 25 
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able because of the restriction of movement with a 1 

national ID.  Now, the full length, you know, you gave 2 

Mr. Berro, a lot more than one ---. 3 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 4 

  This is a public hearing. 5 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 6 

  I'm about ready to speak. 7 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 8 

  The public should be heard. 9 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 10 

  But as I mentioned ---. 11 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 12 

  It's a public hearing.   13 

  MAYOR SINNOTT: 14 

  Don't worry, you're not wearing your 15 

welcome out.   16 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 17 

  I don't want to wear my welcome out.   18 

  MAYOR SINNOTT: 19 

  You're more than welcome to stay. 20 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 21 

  You're not leaving until you hear what we 22 

have to say. 23 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 24 

  That's right. 25 
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  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 1 

  They might have something else scheduled. 2 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 3 

  But here's the problem in a nut shell.  4 

Okay?  Now, I heard some things about conspiracy here. 5 

Well, it is a conspiracy.  It's not theory.  Recently 6 

classified CIA and State Department documents revealed 7 

a program implemented and architected by Ollie North 8 

in 1980 called Rex 84, which elevated FEMA to a power 9 

that would enable it to implement marshal law and 10 

round up American citizens deemed as subversives and 11 

put them in concentration camps done with, of course, 12 

a budget and a blank check for FEMA to refurbish and 13 

re-outfit vacated Amtrak railway, repair stations, 14 

industrial bases and closed military bases.   15 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 16 

  They get $400 million a year for that. 17 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 18 

  One of the companies gets a contract to 19 

build the mechanism for transporting rounded up 20 

Americans with Gunnison Railcorp (phonetic), a 21 

subsidiary of Bethlehem Steel Fabrication that 22 

received a contract to build and outfit, 400 boxcars 23 

with shackles and leg irons.  I'm sorry, that's not 24 

for transporting freight.  That's not for protecting 25 
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Americans.  And I believe that Real ID is one more 1 

baby step, one more increment to make it easier to 2 

make Americans transparent so that those who do not 3 

have any our interests at best heart, anybody in this 4 

room, including you up there, to target people and 5 

round them up. 6 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 7 

  You're opposed to Real ID? 8 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 9 

  I'm very opposed to Real ID. 10 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 11 

  Thank you. 12 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 13 

  First of all, let me thank you all for 14 

coming out here and talking with us.  But I also would 15 

like to remind you that the federal government has its 16 

way of persuading people like you who go against the 17 

government's wishes.  I hope that you will continue  18 

your courage and to jump aboard HB 1351 and to get 19 

Real ID out of Pennsylvania. 20 

  I'm not finished yet.  You know, we have 21 

a cable show called Outside The Box News Views.  And 22 

we've touched upon some of the subjects that this 23 

woman has spoke about.  This is not a conspiracy 24 

theory and shame on you.  But the point is, yes, there 25 
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is mechanisms in place.  Henry Gonzalez, 1 

representative from Congress, Texas representative, 2 

spoke of that very nature.  And yes, there are 3 

containment camps in the United States to round up 4 

American citizens for the war on terrorism.  That was 5 

stated in 1986.   6 

  Our lives are at stake.  This conspiracy 7 

nonsense between putting us against you mentality has 8 

to stop.  We all have to come together and realize 9 

that the federal government has ulterior motives and 10 

this is just one of them.  A national database?  What, 11 

you think that national ID card is something new?  No. 12 

It's been around since the early '80s.  Bill Clinton 13 

tried it with the health legislation.  Now they found 14 

military conditions out the back door to slip it 15 

through.  16 

  Is this your last hearing here? 17 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 18 

  Yes. 19 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 20 

  Well, let it be known, we don't want it 21 

here.  22 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 23 

  Okay. 24 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 25 
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  Now, I understand that you have a bill 1 

presented to go with the HB 1351.  It is stronger than 2 

HB 1351? 3 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 4 

  Well, I have not introduced a bill yet. 5 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 6 

  Okay.  Are you going to? 7 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 8 

  We want to have a committee meeting and 9 

we're going to make a decision based on comments that 10 

we have received from you, from residents of Scranton, 11 

from Pittsburgh, Harrisburg and Philadelphia. 12 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 13 

  How about the constitution?  Why don't 14 

you base your decision off of that? 15 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 16 

  And we will also ---.  We're compelled to 17 

follow the mandate of the United States Constitution 18 

and the Pennsylvania Constitution. 19 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 20 

  But your primary obligation is to the 21 

people as well.  And we appreciate you coming out 22 

here. 23 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 24 

  That's why we're here. 25 
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  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 1 

  I want to read this to you real quick.  2 

I'm just going to read the headline.  And I want you 3 

to put this into perspective, what this is.  This is 4 

not just the federal government coming to the states 5 

to say, let's pick on that Real ID.  This is a world 6 

agenda and here it is, Russian Government Wants 7 

Biometric Passport Microchip Produced Domestically.  8 

And that's from biometrics.com.  And those that run 9 

these biometric companies, I wonder why they really 10 

like Real ID.  I think I'll ---. 11 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 12 

  You guys have talked about supporting 13 

House Bill 1351.  But right now while we're here in 14 

this room PennDOT is not in compliance with Real ID.  15 

Eleven (11) of 18 benchmarks have been met before our 16 

state has even decided whether we're going to comply 17 

with Real ID.  It's obvious what the people think, but 18 

PennDOT has been doing this.  PennDOT has had a 19 

contract with Massage (phonetic) Technologies 45 20 

million taxpayer dollars.  They're expending it to get 21 

in compliance with Real ID right now, right as we 22 

speak.  They didn't ask you.  They didn't ask us.  23 

They're doing it.  Ask Mr. Berro.   24 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 25 
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  Trust me.  Number one, Pennsylvania has 1 

not signed on to Real ID.  Number two, if there is a 2 

commitment of $45 million, it would have to come 3 

through the House and Senate. 4 

  That's like you going back there and 5 

saying I’m going to spend $45 million.  Unless the 6 

General Assembly signs off on it, it’s just emotions.  7 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 8 

  Its started up. 9 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 10 

  I would not conclude about what PennDOT 11 

has done until the legislature has acted. 12 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 13 

  That's why I urge you, please pass HB 14 

1351 as written.  We don't need biometric technology. 15 

We don't need any bills to come before legislation 16 

that are thumbs down.  We need 1351.  Thank you. 17 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 18 

  Yes.  This young man right here and then 19 

you after him. 20 

  MR. MEADOWS: 21 

  A couple of points.  We were talking 22 

about the 9/11 Commission. 23 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 24 

  Oh, no.  I was talking about the young 25 



 
 

Sargent's Court Reporting Service, Inc. 
(814) 536-8908 

101

man with the blue ---.  Go ahead.  Yes. 1 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 2 

  You know, when I walked in this morning 3 

it's like I could see there's a little bit of distress 4 

in the ayes here.  You know, Americans are really 5 

upset and I think everybody understands that, you 6 

know, with the loss of certain liberties in our 7 

country, the rise of the neoconservative agenda.  You 8 

know, a lot of people seem to be pushing in pieces of 9 

legislation that are unconstitutional.  You know, 10 

we're working on people to start demanding to hold our 11 

public politicians accountable to doing what's right.  12 

  In 1984, George Orwell, and as far as 13 

conspiracies go, let's talk about JFK's speech that 14 

got him assassinated, when he talked about a 15 

monolithic conspiracy and all the secret societies 16 

that are undermining national and individual 17 

sovereignty.  That's not a conspiracy.  That's the 18 

truth.  And this movement is happening all over the 19 

world.  Okay?   20 

  When you gentlemen were referencing your 21 

speech, I heard cocaine.  I heard these guys got 22 

killed.  I heard all these scare tactics.  The same 23 

thing the Bush administration, the executive 24 

government uses to usurp our civil liberties.  That 25 
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doesn't work anymore.  The CIA cold war mentality is 1 

over.  Okay?  The door is wide open and somebody can 2 

walk across with a suitcase nude, why bother to have 3 

to have a cattle prod stuck up where the sun don’t 4 

shine to take an airplane flight.  You're not making 5 

the country any safer.  All you're doing is pushing an 6 

agenda to cattle drive people and to suppress the 7 

constitution. 8 

  The Bill of Rights will never be taken 9 

away in this country because I'll tell you another 10 

thing.  You can pass any law that you want telling a 11 

person that they got to use a spoon with their left 12 

hand.  Okay.  It's not going to happen.  And that's 13 

the point where the American people are, is we're not 14 

going to have it.  There's a lot of people armed and 15 

ready to go against this government if they continue 16 

to push and undermine our civil liberties.  You better 17 

take that to heart.  Any widow’s son on a checkerboard 18 

here today better take that to heart, because you see 19 

all of me. 20 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 21 

  Thank you.   22 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 23 

  Thank you.   24 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 25 
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  Young man? 1 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 2 

  Yeah.  I was talking about the 9/11 3 

Commission report.  And when they talk about World 4 

Trade Center Seven and their explanation is, they 5 

don't know why it fell down, how can we take their 6 

explanation for Tower One and Tower Two?  Okay.  And 7 

then we talk about terrorism, terrorism, terrorism.  8 

Peanuts have killed more people than terrorists since 9 

1960.  Bambi, you know, with the white tail and four 10 

little legs, has killed more people than terrorism 11 

since 1960.  What is this bull crap about a threat of 12 

terrorism?  Bambi kills more people than terrorism.  13 

Where is the focus on Bambi?  Where is the billboards? 14 

There's the terrorist.   15 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 16 

  Okay.  Thank you.   17 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 18 

  Photo ID, the fault of our nation to be 19 

invaded by Iraq ---. 20 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 21 

  Sir.  Sir.  This young man over here.  We 22 

have five minutes.  Yes. 23 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 24 

  This goes against the U.S. Constitution 25 
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as well as the Pennsylvania Constitution.  Are you two 1 

ashamed of yourselves and your fascist co-workers?   2 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 3 

  Please don't answer that.  Yes. 4 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 5 

  I'd like to ask a question.  How does the 6 

state legislature even consider this?  This was never 7 

--- I mean, how can Congress without hearings or 8 

anything propose legislation that you're acting on 9 

today with no hearings whatsoever, which are so 10 

important?  But what's even worse is, I read in the 11 

Pittsburgh paper a week ago that the state Liquor 12 

Control Board is looking at biometrics cards, and 13 

they've already started it.  Now, how can this happen? 14 

How can this happen when you sit up there and you say 15 

to us, oh, they didn’t give us the money.  But it's 16 

been reported in the Harrisburg paper that PennDOT 17 

found the money and they're working on it right now.  18 

How can this happen?  They’re usurping the legislative 19 

power of the legislature? 20 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 21 

  Give that gentleman a big round of 22 

applause.   23 

  Because of the questions that you raised 24 

that's what I'll repeat.  We have taken upon 25 
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ourselves, even though we had nothing to do with 1 

drafting or signing off on the Real ID Act, we felt 2 

that it was necessary to come and share the 3 

information with you and hear your concerns as it 4 

relates to the Act.   5 

  We overwhelmingly appreciate NCSL, 6 

because they have had a chance to go around to --- how 7 

many states have you visited so far, Jeremy? 8 

  MR. MEADOWS: 9 

  Real ID issues, we've visited at least 10 

probably 15 to 20 different states. 11 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 12 

  Fifteen (15) to 20 different states.  We 13 

want to make sure that you have the information.  And 14 

we want to make sure that we hear from you so that we 15 

can make an informed decision.  And from all that I've 16 

heard, unless somebody's going to ask something 17 

differently or comment differently, it is your feeling 18 

that we should not support the Real ID Act of 2005.  19 

Is that correct? 20 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 21 

  Yes. 22 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 23 

  Yes. 24 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 25 
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  Thank you.   1 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 2 

  Go pass 1351.   3 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 4 

  Don't forget these reps.  These reps are 5 

coming out to ---. 6 

  AUDIENCE MEMBER: 7 

  Will you now support HB 1351?  8 

  CHAIRMAN THOMAS: 9 

  What this means is that there will be a 10 

House Intergovernmental Affairs Committee.  I have 35 11 

members of the committee?  I am not going to just 12 

substitute my judgment today.  We will have a meeting. 13 

We will discuss 1351.  And be assured, we will come 14 

back to discuss this. 15 

  MAYOR SINNOTT: 16 

  Chairman Thomas, thank you.  17 

  18 

* * * * * * * * 19 

HEARING CONCLUDED AT 12:35 P.M. 20 

* * * * * * * * 21 
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